

EXAMINATION FOR GAMBLING COUNSELORS ICGC-I & ICGC-II

ICGC Exam Study Guide 2023

PREFACE

The purpose of this Gambling Counselor study guide is to provide individuals with a comprehensive review of material that reflects the range of topics and questions you may encounter on the IGCCB – International Certification Examination for Gambling Counselor. The materials are designed to help you accomplish the following:

- Practice Test Taking Strategies
 - O You can review the cases as an opportunity to practice effective test taking.
- Assessing Strength and Weakness
 - You can use the cases and practice questions to assess areas of strength and weakness in your problem and disordered gambling knowledge base.
- Identify Personal Biases
 - The cases and practice questions can help you identify personal biases that my influence your response to some questions. These may include the tendency to answer based on employment setting, rather than what is generally accepted in the problem gambling treatment field. It might also include issues where you have a strong belief, even if it runs contrary to fact or research.
- Learning/Clarifying Problem Gambling Knowledge
 - The study guide provides information in each section that mirrors the educational requirements for the International Certification of Gambling Counselors Level I and Level II.

These cases and practice questions should not be used to anticipate the score you will receive when you take the examination. The study guide and practice questions are designed as a learning tool to assist you in improving your overall knowledge in the screening, assessment, and treatment of individuals and their families of problematic and disordered gambling.

Remember, the IGCCB has a <u>Code of Ethical Conduct</u> that all members of the Certification agree and adhere to in professional settings. As they relate to this study guide:

- **Principle 2:** Responsibility this study guide should not be copied, shared, or reused. Use of copyrighted material without permission or payment of royalty may be considered theft and will result in the appropriate consequences.
- **Principle 4:** Legal and Moral Standards this study guide was developed to promote knowledge and expertise in the profession. Providing copies without payment or permission may be considered against legal and moral standards of the profession.

Table of Contents

Overview	4
Before the Test	5
Test Day - A Good Exam Experience	6
Taking the Exam - Tips	8
StudyingWhere to Start?!	9
ICGC Study Guide	11
Basic Knowledge of Problem and Disordered Gambling	11
Scope of Legalized Gambling in the US	11
Client Evaluations	16
Gambling Counseling Practice	23
Examination of Client and Counselor Attitudes & Feelings	23
Considerations for Alternative Solutions	24
Skills for Gambling Disorders	25
Relationship to Substance Misuse and Mental Health	31
Client Care	34
Education	36
Continuing Care	40
Special Issues in Gambling Treatment	42
Adolescence	43
Older Adults	44
Gender	46
Cultural Minorities	46
Relapse and Relapse Prevention	47
Suicide	47
Trauma and Survivors Issues	48
Chronic Illness	48
Criminal Justice	49

Military	49
Stigma	51
Professional Issues (National / International)	52
Law and Regulations	52
Ethics as it pertains to IGCCB Standards (Review and compare to your licensing board ethics)	53
Supervision	53
Intersections of Gaming and Gambling	
References for the Exam	60
Sample Test Questions	74
Exam Prep Questions	76

Overview

About the Exam

The International Certification Examination for Gambling Counselor is a computer-based exam composed of a maximum of 200 objective multiple-choice questions. The questions for the examination are obtained from individuals with expertise in gambling counseling and are reviewed for construction, accuracy, and appropriateness by the IGCCB and Prometric.

Passing Score: 70%

ICGC Exam was last updated January 2022

ICGC Exam Content

The International Certification Examination for Gambling Counselors will be weighted in approximately the following manner:

I. Basic Knowledge of Problem and Pathological Gambling	20%
II. Gambling Counseling Practice	40%
III. Special Issues in Gambling Treatment	30%
IV. Professional Issues	10%

The Exam measures your ability to recall, comprehend, analyze, and apply gambling and disordered gambling clinical knowledge related to the following:

- National / International
- Direct clinical practice skills
- Integration with existing clinical knowledge of Mental Health and Substance Use Disorders
- Best Strategy Recommendation: Learn gambling specific content AND strengthen clinical skills interventions

Before the Test

Review the IGCCB website for the ICGC Certification
 Determine and inform IGCCB if you require Special Accommodations - prior approval is needed
 Review registration and examination requirements provided by Prometric in your email
 Prepare for your exam

 Familiarize yourself with the testing location
 Review the Exam Prep-Handbook references
 Study

Test Day – A Good Exam Experience

- Eat a nutritious meal before your Exam!
 - Eating a healthy meal prior to your Exam will provide you with enough energy and focus to thoroughly complete the Exam. Avoid heavy foods that can make you groggy.
- Do not pull an all-nighter!
 - Give yourself enough time to study section by section before your
 Exam Day. Go to bed early the night before to ensure a good night's rest.
- Arrive early!
 - o Show up at least 15 minutes prior to Exam start time to avoid rushing.
- Bathroom check!
 - Use the bathroom before walking into the test room to reduce distractions.
- Breathe!
 - Practice calming techniques to reduce nervousness and testing anxiety.

• Pace yourself!

 Do not rush through the Exam. Make sure you take your time to understand and work through all questions.

• Actively read!

 Always read the entire question and note key words. Do not assume you know the meaning by only skimming.

• Review!

 If you have time left over, review your answers. However, do not change them unless you misread the question. Your first answer is usually correct.

Taking the Exam - Tips

Read the entire question before viewing the answers
Brainstorm possible answers before looking at the multiple-choice options to
avoid being confused by several choices
Read all choices carefully before choosing one
Eliminate answers you know are not correct
If you are unsure about the answer, make an educated guess based on
previous knowledge and the process of elimination
Do not consistently change you answer. Your first instinct is usually right
If there is an 'all of the above' option and you know at least two of the
choices are correct but are uncertain about the others, there is a good chance
the 'all of the above' choice is correct
If you absolutely do not know the answer, flag/skip it, and proceed with the
rest of the test. This will help you maintain good timing during your Exam
and allow you time to think. Make sure to come back to it later as a different
part of the test may help refresh your memory about that question

Studying...Where to Start?!

Review your training notes and all PowerPoint handouts
Review your case consults and supervision notes
Review the references located in the Exam Prep Handbook on the IGCCB
website
Review references that contain statistics
Review age, gender, co-occurring disordered information
Review client rights, ethics, and supervision at a national level
Consult with your Board Approved Clinical Consultant (BACC) to establish
your content Strengths and Weaknesses and put a plan of action in place

ICGC Study Guide Outline 2023

Basic Knowledge of Problem and Disordered Gambling

Scope of Legalized Gambling in the US

Prevalence of Problem Gambling

It is important to know the overall research on prevalence rates in the general population as well as age, gender, and ethnicity rates. Review the references listed in the IGCCB Handbook for the most up to date information.

Among Adults

- o 2 million (1%) meet criteria for gambling disorder
- 4 to 6 million (2% to 3%) considered problem gamblers but do not meet diagnostic criteria
- 0.2% 0.3% past-year prevalence of gambling disorder in the general population
- o 0.4% 1.0% lifetime prevalence in the general population
- Prevalence findings highly variable based on methodology and population samples. It is generally agreed that prevalence of gambling disorder in the U.S. is about 1%
- Older adults have lowest prevalence of all age groups

Among Youth

- Young adults have highest percentage of problem gambling of all age groups
- o 4.1% adolescent
- o 5.6% college-aged
- Increased risk-taking
- Increased novelty seeking
- Decreased capacity for good judgment

Among Treatment Populations

- 49% of individuals diagnosed with a gambling disorder had received mental health or substance use disorder treatment but did not receive any treatment for their gambling
- o 56% are diagnosed with a mood disorder
- o 60% are diagnosed with anxiety disorder

- o 42% are diagnosed with a substance use disorder
- o 57% to 82% gambling diagnosis is discovered secondary

Among Diverse Cultural, Racial, and Ethnic Groups

- o 0.2% lifetime prevalence for females
- o 0.6% lifetime prevalence for males
- o 0.9% lifetime prevalence for African Americans
- o 0.4% lifetime prevalence for Caucasians
- o 0.3% lifetime prevalence for Hispanics
- In U.S. African Americans have consistently been found to have higher problem gambling prevalence rates that Caucasians
- Research has been mixed on whether Latinx and Asian Americans are at higher risk for problem gambling than European Americans

Definitions of Gambling and Problem Gambling

Know how to define various levels of gambling and problem gambling with individuals. Understand the scores and cut-offs to properly define and target interventions.

- Gambling the act of risking something of value, including money and property, on an activity that has an uncertain outcome
 - "Any betting or wagering for self or others, whether for money or not, no matter how slight or insignificant, where the outcome is uncertain or depends upon chance or 'skill,' constitutes gambling." (Gamblers Anonymous, 1994)
- Problem Gambling consists of persistent failure to resist the urge to gamble, to such an extent that personal, family, and/or vocational life is seriously disrupted

Gambling Disorder

Definition / Terminology of Gambling Disorder

- Persistent and recurrent problematic gambling behavior leading to clinically significant impairment or distress, as indicated by the individual exhibiting four (or more) of the following in a 12-month period (See DSM-5 Criteria in future section).
- "The fundamental premise is that disordered gambling represents the outcome of a complex matrix of environmental, intrapsychic, biological, and cultural factors." (Richard, Blaszczynski, & Nower, 2013).
- Problem gambling is defined as "gambling behavior that results in any harmful effects to the gambler, his or her family, significant others, friends, co-workers,

etc." (Committee on the Social and Economic Impact of Pathological Gambling, 1999).

Etiology and Progression of Gambling Disorder

Continuum of Gambling



- 2% to 3% of the population falls in the problem gambling category
- 1% of the population falls in the disordered gambling category

Withdrawal symptoms from gambling

- While those with gambling disorder may have withdrawal symptoms as do those with substance use disorders, withdrawal symptoms are not as predictable or consistent with gambling as substance use
- Physical
 - Nausea, stomach cramps, sweats, headaches, cravings
- Emotional
 - o Preoccupation, restlessness, moodiness, irritability
- Mental
 - o Insomnia, depression, anxiety

Subtypes and Pathways Model

Subtypes

- The behaviorally conditioned problem gambler (repeated action)
 - Gambling is linked to learning and environment
 - No pre-existing pathology
 - May have early big wins, intermittent wins, enjoy excitement
 - o The above three combine to form a gambling habit
 - Intensity and severity are lower in this group
 - Have more insight into their problems
 - More likely to seek treatment, to comply, and have better outcomes
 - Cognitive distortion contributes to habitual pattern
 - Anxiety, depression, substance misuse likely secondary to gambling disorder
- The psychologically vulnerable gambler (used as coping)
 - Pre-existing psychological problem that creates emotional vulnerability (i.e., difficulty managing stress or dealing with crisis)
 - Gambling viewed as escape or potential solution

- Poor coping and problem solving due to inadequate role models or past trauma, child abuse, or family upbringing
- May have low self-esteem anxiety, depression, or insecurity
- Gambling may instill a sense of hope, increasing desire to gamble
- The antisocial/impulsive gambler (wired for addiction)
 - Small group with impulsive behaviors from childhood
 - Often have problems with learning and concentration
 - May have attention problems and overactive need for stimulation
 - May experiment with drugs and alcohol at an early age
 - May start gambling at an early age
 - Gambling may occur in binges
 - May do things on impulse without considering consequences

Pathways Model

3 Pathways

- 1. Behaviorally Conditioned
- 2. Psychologically Vulnerable
- 3. Antisocial/Impulsive

All 3 pathways share 4 characteristics

- Access and availability
- Classical and operant conditioning
- Habituation
- Chasing

Similarities and Differences with Substance Use Disorders

- Similarities: preoccupation, loss of control, progressive, continued despite negative consequences, tolerance, and withdrawal
- Differences: unpredictable outcome, not self-limiting, easier to hide, more intense shame and guilt, less public awareness, no tell-tale biological signs (not detectable in blood, urine, dilated pupils, slurred speech or on the breath)

Relationship between problem gambling and substance use disorders

- High rates of co-occurrence
- Preoccupation and loss of control
- Similar clinical courses
 - o Increased rates in adolescence; decreased rates in older adults
 - Telescoping pattern in women (progresses quickly in later life)

- Both are progressive
- Similar clinical characteristics
 - o Tolerance, withdrawal, repeated attempts to cut back or quit, denial that problem resides within the person
 - o Urges and craving states
- Similar biology
 - o Genetic contributions; neural circuits
- Similar treatments
 - Self-help; Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (CBT); Motivational Interviewing (MI); naltrexone (modulates dopamine transmission in reward pathway); other medications; family involvement

Problem gambling and substance use disorders as disorders of "misdirected motivation"

- Priority is given to specific motivational behaviors that are associated with immediate or short-term rewards
- Decisions to delay gratification are compromised
- People with problem gambling or substance use disorders perform disadvantageously on decision-making tasks and discount rewards more rapidly
- Low serotonin is associated with impaired impulse control
- Alcohol dependence and problem gambling associated with increased impulsivity
- Problem gambling subjects show smaller amygdala and hippocampus volume

Differences between problem gambling and substance use disorder

- Fantasies of success
- Easier to hide
- Gambling is not self-limiting
- Problem gambling has increased denial and stronger defenses
- Intensity of family anger
- No biological test
- Unpredictable outcome
- Increased intensity of shame, stigma, and guilt for problem gamblers
- Increase financial problems for problem gamblers
- Less public awareness

Consequences of Problem Gambling

Poor health

- Mental health issues (depression, anxiety, etc.)
- Potential alcohol and drug dependence
- Family arguments and high divorce rates
- Legal conflicts
- Bankruptcy
- Job loss and unemployment
- Suicide (60% suicidal ideation; 20% suicide attempt)

Client Evaluations

Client Screening Tools

The Lie-Bet Screen (1997)

- Not widely used
- Two questions discussed
 - 1. "Have you ever felt the need to bet more and more money?"
 - 2. "Have you ever had to lie to people important to you about how much you gambled?"
 - o A "YES" answer to one or both questions should indicate the need for a full assessment for problem gambling
 - o A "NO" to both may indicate no gambling concerns.

NODS-CLiP (2002)

- Over captured low-risk gamblers
- <u>National Opinion Research Center (NORC)</u> at The University of Chicago Diagnostic Screen (NODS)
- Consists of three questions only, one in each category
 - 1. (Loss of) Control "Have you ever tried to stop, cut down, or control your gambling?"
 - 2. <u>Lying</u> "Have you ever lied to family members, friends, or others about how much you gamble or how much money you lose on gambling?"
 - 3. <u>Preoccupation</u> "Have there been periods lasting two weeks or longer when you spent a lot of time thinking about your gambling experiences, or planning out future gambling ventures or bets?"
 - Answering "YES" to any of the three questions <u>may</u> indicate a problem with gambling

NODS-PERC (2007)

- Increased diagnostic efficiency
- Better at capturing problem gamblers and not low-risk gamblers
- <u>Preoccupation</u> same as NODS-CliP
- <u>E</u>scape "Have you ever gambled as a way to escape from personal problems?"
- Risked relationships "Has your gambling ever caused serious repeated problems in your relationships with any of your family members or friends?"
- <u>Chasing</u> "Has there ever been a period when, if you lost money gambling one day, you would return another day to get even?"

Brief Bio-Social Gambling Screen (BBGS) (2010)

- Focus is on withdrawal, deception, and bailout
- <u>Withdrawal</u> "During the past 12 months, have you become restless, irritable, or anxious when trying to stop/cut down on gambling?"
- <u>Deception</u> "During the past 12 months, have you tried to keep your family or friends from knowing how much you gambled?"
- <u>Bailout</u> "During the past 12 months, did you have such financial trouble that you had to get help from family or friends?"
 - Answering "YES" to one or more questions indicates likely problems related to gambling

Problem Gambling Severity Index

- The Problem Gambling Severity Index (PGSI) is the standardized measure of at-risk behavior in problem gambling. It is a tool based on research on the common signs and consequences of problematic gambling. Assessing where your client currently is can help you make informed decisions on how to assist them
- The PGSI quiz asks participants to self-assess their gambling behavior over the past 12 months by scoring themselves against nine questions. The response options attract the following scores:
 - o Never (score: 0)
 - o Rarely (score: 1)
 - o Sometimes (score: 1)
 - o Often (score: 2)
 - o Always (score: 3)

South Oaks Gambling Screen (SOGS) (1987)

• Valid and reliable

- Widely used Screen
- May be self-administered
- Google "South Oaks Gambling Screen" or "SOGS" to review the entire screen
- Not empirically based screens Not recommended for clinical assessment

Gamblers Anonymous 20 Questions

- 1. Did you ever lose time from work or school due to gambling?
- 2. Has gambling ever made your home life unhappy?
- 3. Did gambling affect your reputation?
- 4. Have you ever felt remorse after gambling?
- 5. Did you ever gamble to get money with which to pay debts or otherwise solve financial difficulties?
- 6. Did gambling cause a decrease in your ambition or efficiency?
- 7. After losing, did you feel you must return as soon as possible and win back your losses?
- 8. After a win, did you have a strong urge to return and win more?
- 9. Did you often gamble until your last dollar was gone?
- 10. Did you ever borrow to finance your gambling?
- 11. Have you ever sold anything to finance gambling?
- 12. Were you reluctant to use "gambling money" for normal expenditures?
- 13. Did gambling make you careless of the welfare of yourself and your family?
- 14. Did you ever gamble longer than you had planned?
- 15. Have you ever gambled to escape worry or trouble?
- 16. Have you ever committed, or considered committing, an illegal act to finance gambling?
- 17. Did gambling cause difficulty in sleeping?
- 18. Do arguments, disappointments or frustrations create within you an urge to gamble?
- 19. Did you ever have an urge to celebrate any good fortune by a few hours of gambling?
- 20. Have you ever considered self-destruction or suicide as a result of your gambling?
 - Most compulsive gamblers will answer "YES" to at least seven of these questions

Gam-Anon 20 Questions

1. Did you find yourself constantly bothered by bill collectors?

- 2. Is the person in question often away from home for long, unexplained periods of time?
- 3. Does this person ever lose time from work due to gambling?
- 4. Do you feel that this person cannot be trusted with money?
- 5. Does he/she promise to stop gambling; beg, plead for another chance, yet gamble again and again?
- 6. Does this person ever gamble longer than he or she intended to, until the last dollar is gone?
- 7. Does this person immediately return to gambling to try to recover losses, or to win more?
- 8. Do they gamble to solve financial problems/have unrealistic expectations about results of gambling?
- 9. Does this person borrow money to gamble with or to pay gambling debts?
- 10. Has their reputation suffered from gambling, even by committing illegal acts to finance gambling?
- 11. Have you hidden money, knowing that you/your family may go without food/clothing if you do not?
- 12. Do you search his/her clothes and/or wallet, or otherwise check on his/her activities?
- 13. Does the person in question hide his or her money?
- 14. Have you noticed a personality change in the gambler as his or her gambling progresses?
- 15. Does the person in question consistently lie to cover up or deny his or her gambling activities?
- 16. Does he/she use guilt induction as a method of shifting responsibilities for his/her gambling on you?
- 17. Do you attempt to anticipate this person's moods, or try to control his or her life?
- 18. Do they ever suffer from remorse/depression from gambling, ever to the point of self-destruction?
- 19. Has the gambling ever brought you to the point of threatening to break up the family unit?
- 20. Do you feel that your life together is a nightmare?
 - If you answered "yes" to some or all of these questions, Gam-Anon may be for you

SBIRT

- Screening, Brief Intervention, Referral to Treatment
- Integrates alcohol and drug discussion into clinical workflow

- Education/prevention
- Graduated discussion
- Uses Motivational Interviewing approach
- Referral to treatment when indicated

GBIRT (or Gambling SBIRT)

- Application of a simple test to determine if individual is at risk for, or may have, a gambling disorder
- Explanation of screening results, information on responsible gambling, assessment of readiness to change, advice on change
- Patients with positive results on a screening may be referred to resources for further assessment and/or counseling or self-help resources

Remember a positive screen does not constitute a diagnosis!

Assessments

- Engage
- Convey understanding and knowledge of gambling problems
- Address need for managing crisis and intervention
- Conduct thorough assessment to make diagnosis
- Determine and assess severity of problem gambling
- Person in environment and their strengths
- Instill hope

Diagnostic Criteria for Gambling Disorder (DSM-5)

- Gambling is grouped with Substance Use Disorders in the DSM-5
- Must have four of nine criteria to reach diagnostic threshold

Persistent and recurrent problematic gambling behavior leading to clinically significant impairment or distress, as indicated by the individual exhibiting four (or more) of the following in a 12-month period:

- 1. Tolerance needs to gamble with increasing amounts of money to achieve the desired excitement
- **2.** Withdrawal is restless or irritable when attempting to cut down or stop gambling
- **3.** Loss of control has made repeated unsuccessful efforts to control, cut back, or stop gambling

- **4.** Preoccupation is often preoccupied with gambling (e.g., having persistent thoughts of reliving past gambling experiences, handicapping, or planning the next venture, thinking of ways to get money with which to gamble)
- **5.** Distressed gambling often gambles when feeling distressed (e.g., helpless, guilty, anxious, depressed)
- **6.** Chasing losses after losing money gambling, often returns another day to get even ("chasing" one's losses)
- 7. Lying behaviors lies to conceal the extent of involvement with gambling
- **8.** Jeopardized/lost significant relationship, job, education, or career opportunity has jeopardized or lost a significant relationship, job, or educational or career opportunity because of gambling
- **9.** Bailouts relies on others to provide money to relieve desperate financial situations caused by gambling

The gambling behavior is not better explained by a manic episode. Important to note that a person can have both a bipolar disorder and a gambling disorder.

Specifiers of Gambling Disorder

- Episodic: Meeting diagnostic criteria at more than one time point, with symptoms subsiding between periods of gambling disorder for at least several months
- Persistent: Experiencing continuous symptoms, to meet diagnostic criteria for multiple years
- In early remission: After full criteria for gambling disorder were previously met, none of the criteria for gambling disorder have been met for at least 3 months but for less than 12 months
- In sustained remission: After full criteria for gambling disorder were previously met, none of the criteria for gambling disorder have been met during a period of 12 months or longer
- Severity: Mild: 4 5 criteria met, Moderate: 6 7 criteria met, Severe: 8 9 criteria met

<u>Differential Diagnosis</u>

Non-disordered gambling: Gambling disorder must be distinguished from
professional and social gambling. In professional gambling, risks are limited and
discipline is central. Social gambling typically occurs with friends or colleagues
and lasts for a limited time, with acceptable losses. Some individuals can
experience problems associated with gambling (e.g., short-term chasing behavior
and loss of control) that do not meet the full criteria for gambling disorder

- Manic episode: Loss of judgment and excessive gambling may occur during a manic episode. An additional diagnosis of gambling disorder should be given only if the gambling behavior is not better explained by manic episodes (e.g., a history of maladaptive gambling behavior at times other than during a manic episode). Alternatively, an individual with gambling disorder may, during a period of gambling, exhibit behavior that resembles a manic episode, but once the individual is away from the gambling, these manic-like features dissipate
- Personality disorders: Problems with gambling may occur in individuals with antisocial personality disorder and other personality disorders. If the criteria are met for both disorders, both can be diagnosed
- Other medical conditions: Some patients taking dopaminergic medications (e.g., for Parkinson's disease) may experience urges to gamble. If such symptoms dissipate when dopaminergic medications are reduced in dosage or ceased, then a diagnosis of gambling disorder will not be indicated

Comorbidity

- Gambling disorder is associated with poor general health. In addition, some specific medical diagnoses, such as tachycardia and angina, are more common among individuals with gambling disorder than in the general population, even when other substance use disorders, including tobacco use disorder, are controlled for in studies. Individuals with gambling disorder have high rates of comorbidity with other mental disorders, such as substance use disorders, depressive disorders, anxiety disorders, and personality disorders. In some individuals, other mental disorders may precede gambling disorder and be either absent or present during the manifestation of gambling disorder. Gambling disorder may also occur prior to the onset of other mental disorders, especially anxiety disorders and substance use disorders
- Determine other mental health and/or substance use disorder diagnoses commonly associated with individuals that present for help. This includes mood disorders, substance use disorders, and personality disorders

Gambling Counseling Practice

Examination of Client and Counselor Attitudes & Feelings

Attitudes Towards Money

Remember that disordered gamblers have two kinds of money: Real money and Gambling money. Make sure you understand the differences and how to discuss in a clinical setting

Deception and Self-Deception

Proficient counselors need to differentiate the ways clients deceive themselves about problem and disordered gambling. This can include chasing to solve all their problems. Deception is multi-faceted and can impact family and loved ones in multiple ways, including but not limited to finances, legal, IRS and taxes, friends, debt and loan amounts, and abstinence vs harm reduction.

Meaning and Role of Gambling

Counselors need to help their clients identify what role gambling plays/played in their life as part of their treatment and recovery. If they do not see how gambling helps them to avoid other problems, then they will return to gambling when life stressors appear.

- Excitement
- Rebelliousness and anger
- Freedom from dependency
- Social acceptance
- Escape from affect
- Alternative route to success

Spirituality

Many people may experience a crisis in their faith and turn away from spiritual and/or religious practice. Others will turn towards spirituality and/or religion when they enter recovery. Individuals can view their faith and God as being worthy of it if they win at gambling, or they are being punished for gambling and lying. Many times, individuals may need to seek faith-based counseling or going to a form of confession to heal their issues with spirituality and/or religion.

Transference and Countertransference

Professionals must be aware of all countertransference that may have when working with individuals with a gambling disorder. It could be as simple as having difficulty dealing with finances since their own finances are in less than great shape, or they could struggle with how

much devastation is caused to the family and partner/spouse from the gambling. Clients may also have transference depending on the level of shame and embarrassment they are experiencing when seeking help.

Irrational Thinking/Cognitive Distortions

Professionals need to review the list of irrational thinking and cognitive distortions from CBT model and apply them directly to disordered gambling. Understanding how people get "hooked" in gambling is critical to successful treatment and recovery.

Cultural Beliefs and Attitudes

Professionals need to explore cultural beliefs, attitudes, and multi-generational values when helping clients understand why and how they gambled. It can impact their views and perspective on abstinence or harm reduction as well. Professionals should let the client educate them about their beliefs and then help create a bridge to recovery that maintains their cultural beliefs in a healthier way.

Considerations for Alternative Solutions

Develop a solid understanding of the three alternative solutions to working and treatment problematic gambling. Remember, not everyone will fit one approach.

Abstinence

The most common approach when working with addictive disorders. However, not all individuals seeking help will want to abstain. Become competent when this approach is more effective and when it can impact engagement, retention, and discharge.

Harm Reduction

This model is highly endorsed in the problem gambling treatment field. Become competent with when to use harm reduction approaches and how to implement.

- Harm reduction is a public health alternative to the moral/criminal and disease models of addiction
- Not all forms of gambling put the gambler in action
- Difficult for a person in gambling disorder recovery to avoid ALL forms of risk taking in life
- Difficult for a person in gambling disorder recovery to s avoid people, places, and things in actively gambling culture
- Recognizes abstinence as one of many outcomes and accepts alternatives that reduce harm or risk
- Harm reduction strategies also apply for those working on abstinence as a goal
- Is not just controlled gambling
- Is in favor of ANY positive change as defined by the client
- Client sets his/her own rate of change

Natural Recovery

This term applies to individuals that do not seek self-help or professional help, and they can stop gambling naturally. Research does indicate that these individuals may not have the psychoeducation to understand their triggers, reasons for compulsively gambling, or the warning signs and could be at-risk for relapse later in their lives.

Skills for Gambling Disorders

Redefining Best Practices

- Ensuring the application of specific guidelines and approved or "empirically validated" psychotherapeutic methods do not lead to improved treatment outcome
- Differences in treatment methods, diagnoses, and even length of treatment account for less than 5% of the variance in outcomes (Brown, Dries, & Nace, 1999)
- Development of evidence-based therapists is at least as much as, if not more, [important] than the dissemination of specific therapies
- "No amount of theory, coursework, continuing education, or on-the-job experience will lead to the development of 'experienced judgement' required for superior performance.

 ... For that it appears that practitioners must be engaged in the process . . . [of] continuously reaching for objectives just beyond their current ability." (Miller, Hubble, & Duncan, 2007)

Engaging Clients with Gambling Disorder

Professionals need to develop skill and competence with their engagement techniques for gambling disordered individuals. Rolling with resistance, creating a safe space, and developing an environment for honesty are important aspects for successful engagement. If the professional does not engage, the client will be less likely to continue therapy or treatment.

Integrating the Topic of Gambling and Problem Gambling into SUD and MH Treatment

Given the high co-occurring rates with SUD and MH diagnoses, every professional need to find ways to incorporate effective screening and interventions with gambling in primary SUD and MH settings. Determine ways to provide psychoeducation about gambling to individuals atrisk for future gambling problems due to current SUD or MH situations. Include gambling as an example just as you would drugs, alcohol, or gaming. Work with administration to develop strong referral relationships for post discharge. These are just a few key points highlighting the importance of "tri-recovery" perspective with SUD and MH.

Change the perspective from finding cases of gambling disorder among those in SUD and MH treatment to making a discussion of the impact of gambling on SUD and MH recovery an ongoing part of the conversation in behavioral health settings.

Motivational Interviewing and Enhancement Strategies

Founded on "stages of change" (Prochaska & DiClemente, 1983) interventions based on enhancing client's presenting level of motivation. Studies have shown significant gambling reduction with brief motivational interventions (Hodgins, Makarchuk, El-Guebaly, & Peden, 2002; Petry, Weinstock, Ledgerwood, & Morasco, 2008).

- Everyone is motivated but not everyone is aware of their motivation
- Trapped by ambivalence
- Conflict between indulgence and restraint
- Role of therapist:
 - o Active
 - o Directive
 - o Communicate understanding of gambling problem
 - o Acknowledge gambler's ambivalence
 - o Non-shaming discrimination
 - o Establishing environment of trust and honesty
 - o Interpret gambler's defenses
 - o Help gambler understand the meaning of gambling
 - o Encourage self-awareness and curiosity
 - o Present reality objectively
 - Confront discrepancies, distortions, irrational thinking
 - o Encourage creative problem solving
 - Non-gambling options
 - Provide structure
 - Set limits and boundaries
 - Help gambler slow down and focus

Redefining Resistance

- Resistance is not a trait in a person. It is the client's signal of dissonance in the relationship
- Verbal behavior that occurs in interaction
- Never meet resistance head-on
- Use of Discrepancy Analysis and Cost Benefit Analysis to address ambivalence and motivation

Mindfulness Based Interventions

- Change relationship to gambling thoughts
- Cope with cravings
- Develop interest and curiosity about your experience
- Self-awareness
- Affect tolerance
- Decrease impulsivity

- Role of therapist:
 - Accepting and understanding
 - Nonjudgmental
 - Attentive/present
 - Observant of self and others
 - o Reflective listener
 - Awareness of self and others
 - Relaxed alertness
 - Compassionate communication
 - Persistence
 - o Patience
 - o Mindful risk taking

Cognitive Behavioral Treatment

- Behavior techniques (remove having to think first before behaving differently)
 - Many behavioral approaches focus on exposure-extinction and imaginal desensitization
 - Create barriers or distance between the impulsive thought and acting on it
 - Self-Exclusion, Blocking Software
 - Direct deposit of money
 - Limit access to money
 - Take a new way home
 - Disrupt the habitual
 - Triggers and Cravings and how to respond through awareness, coping skills, and urge surfing
- Cognitive techniques
 - Remind yourself about negative consequences. Think about how your money could be better spent. Remind yourself sometimes people win at gambling, but the system is designed for you to lose. Remind yourself of positive consequences of not gambling. Compare costs and benefits of continuing to gamble.
 - Independence of Turns exercise
 - Understanding randomness
 - Irrational thoughts and beliefs about gambling
- CBT techniques
 - Review Irrational ideas about gambling. Discuss the Gambler's Fallacy.
 Determine examples of Attributional Biases.
 - Downward arrow
 - o Functional Analysis to understand triggers and develop coping strategies
 - o Be able to define Gambler's Fallacy

 Overall, CBT techniques that address cognitive distortions, triggers, cravings, and urges with new ways to cope

Client and Family Education

- Mental health disorder that can be a chronic disorder with times of relapses
- How to identify reinforcement strategies that support recovery-oriented behaviors and allow natural consequences of gambling behaviors
- Help family/concerned others understand biopsychosocial/spiritual risk factors model
- Ways to develop personal and financial safety
- Answering questions of family

Family/Concerned Others Interventions

- Financial strategies to protect family resources from problematic gambling
- Seeking help for themselves
- Importance of self-care and limit setting
- Couples and marriage counseling

Individual Counseling

- Implementing strategies specific to gambling
- Address other interpersonal issues
- Gambling is the tip of the iceberg approach

Group Counseling

- Benefits of others in a group setting for support and understanding
- How to conduct a group of multiple addictions

Family/Significant Others

- Addressing their concerns and needs
- Including in therapy process
- Effect on the family:
 - Depression
 - Anxiety
 - Physical Illness
 - May have own addictive behaviors
 - o Financial Distress
 - Isolation
 - Negative job impact
 - o Suicidality

Treatment Planning

• Harm reduction vs abstinence

- Preventing access to continued gambling
- Financial aspect of treatment
- Person-in-environment approach
- When to refer for psychiatry consult

Financial Management Issues

- The most direct, immediate consequence is financial
- A person with a gambling problem who stops gambling is left with debts
 - o Unlike SUD, life may seem worse
 - o No hope of a windfall
- Behavior/state of mind is not that different
 - o Still preoccupied with money as solution to problems
 - o "Chasing" (trying to catch up or get even)
 - o Hustling, selling, trying to get people to give them money
 - o May be dependent upon a win-lose, all-or-nothing external event (sales)
- Losses and debts are tangible, concrete, and quantifiable
- Easier to focus on money lost than other consequences, and to avoid acknowledging that there are other consequences
- Stigma Related to Money
- Money carries a negative social stigma
- Talking about it is taboo. Those with a gambling problem force the conversation
- It challenges the tradition of working hard, saving money, valuing what you have
- People who waste or lose money are seen as irresponsible
- A person with a gambling problem costs us money and may steal from us
- Real Money and Gambling Money (adapted from Taber, 2001)
- Gambling money cannot be used for anything but gambling
- Once money undergoes a cognitive conversion into gambling money it is never converted back to real money
- Gambling money is never really "lost"
- All accidental or unexpected income is automatically converted to gambling money: a gift from lady luck needs to be spent in her worship
- Real money coming as loans from others immediately becomes gambling money
- When does \$20 equal \$20?
- Talking about Money
- Why is it so hard to talk to clients about money and why is important to do it?
- How do money, money problems, and money management fit into therapy?
- How far should a therapist go in making suggestions about money issues to their clients?

• How does talk about money issues fit into crisis management and ongoing counseling?

Restitution

- How to develop and monitor
- Develop as part of financial treatment planning

Budget Preparation

- What/How to include in a budget:
 - Clarify Debt
 - o Identify Expenses
 - o Identify/Predict Income
 - o Create Budget
 - Debt Repayment Plan
 - o Money Protection Plan
- How to monitor
- Who provides oversight and accountability?

Money protection planning

- Answer these questions:
 - o How will I safeguard my money from my gambling?
 - o Who can help me?
 - o To whom will I be accountable?
- Helping family/spouse/partner to have protection from further financial devastation
 - o Consider Gender, Safety Issues, Family Dynamics, and Cultural Issues

Pressure Relief Group through GA

- When to refer to GA and why
- How to refer and expectations

What makes a good financial plan?

- All parts of the financial planning process covered
- A person recovering from a gambling problem and his/her family are committed to using it
- All involved understand roles and responsibilities
- Realistic and supports recovery goals
- No bailouts—support only with accountability
- It is clear and committed to writing

Legal Issues

- The 5 Rs of report writing
 - 1. Remorse
 - 2. Repentance
 - 3. Restitution

- 4. Recovery
- 5. Rehabilitation
- Before, During and After Legal System involvement
 - Consents
 - o Attorneys Probation and Parole involvement
 - Court ordered to treatment
- Multi-cultural Counseling
 - o Attending to cultural beliefs and needs in therapy
 - Understanding the role of culture in recovery
 - o Understanding cultural meaning and role of gambling
 - o DSM5 cultural formulation
 - o Understanding explicit and implicit biases of health care system and the counselor
 - o Understanding cultural strengths and resources

Relationship to Substance Misuse and Mental Health

Addiction Overview

American Society of Addiction Medicine (ASAM)

- Addiction is...
 - A primary, chronic disease of brain reward, motivation, memory, and related circuitry
 - Characterized by the inability to consistently abstain; impairment in behavioral control; craving; diminished recognition of significant problems with one's behaviors and interpersonal relationships; a dysfunctional emotional response
 - o Involves cycles of relapse and remission
 - o Is progressive and can result in disability or death without treatment

Brain Biology

- Motivational neural systems and addiction
 - Addiction affects neurotransmission and interactions within reward structures of the brain in the mesolimbic system

Mesolimbic System

- Reward pathway which is dopaminergic (releasing or involving dopamine as a neurotransmitter)
- Nucleus Accumbens operation is based on dopamine and serotonin. Plays a role in reward, desire, and placebo effect
- Anterior cingulate cortex involved in cognitive functions such as empathy, impulse control, decision making

- Basal forebrain involved in information processing. Damage is associated with attentional impairment
- Amygdala responsible for detecting fear and preparing for emergencies. Important in being motivated concentrate on selecting behaviors associated with previous euphoric/dysphoric experiences. Plays a role in emotion
- Hippocampus important in memory of previous euphoric/dysphoric experiences. Plays a role in memory formation

Frontal Cortical Systems

- Dopamine transported from the Ventral Tegmental Area (VTA) to the nucleus accumbens, amygdala, and hippocampus. Plays a role in reward and reinforcement as well as desire
- Serotonin plays a role in behavior initiation and cessation, satiety, and inhibition

Brain biology facts of addiction

- Motivational hierarchies are altered, and addictive behaviors supplant healthy, self-care related behaviors
- Affects interactions between cortical, hippocampal and brain reward structures
- Memory of previous exposures to rewards leads to a biological and behavioral response to external cues. This triggers cravings and/or engagement in addictive behaviors
- Problems delaying gratification originate in the frontal cortex
- Early substance exposure (or gambling) during adolescence and young adulthood greatly affects frontal lobe development

Three factors that impact addiction

- 1) Genetic account for approximately ½ of the likelihood that an individual will develop addiction
- 2) Environmental interact with a person's biology and affect extent of role of genetic factors' influence
- Resiliencies acquired through parenting or later life experiences. Can affect genetic predispositions and development of addictions. Culture also impacts how addiction is actualized

Bio-Psycho-Social-Spiritual manifestations in addictions

- Presence of an underlying biological deficit in the function of reward circuits
- Repeated drug use or other addictive behavior leads to neuroadaptation in motivational circuitry
- Cognitive and affective distortions impair perceptions and result in significant selfdeception

- Disruption of healthy supports/interpersonal relationships impact development of resiliencies
- Exposure to trauma/stressors that overwhelm coping abilities
- Distortions of meaning/purpose/values that guide attitudes/thinking/behavior
- Distortions in a person's connection with self and others
- Presence of co-occurring psychological disorders

ABCDE of addiction

- **A.** Inability to <u>abstain</u>
- **B.** Impairment of <u>behavior control</u>
- C. Craving
- **D.** <u>Diminished recognition</u> of significant problems
- E. A dysfunctional emotional response

Behavioral changes in addiction

- Increased use at higher frequencies/quantities than intended with decreased success at behavioral control
- Increased time in or recovering from behavior with significant adverse impact on social and occupational functioning
- Continued behavior despite problems exacerbated by behavior
- Narrowed behavioral repertoire focusing on rewards
- Lack of ability/readiness to act

Cognitive changes in addiction

- Preoccupation
- Altered evaluations of benefits/detriments associated with behavior
- Belief that problems are attributed to causes other than addiction

Emotional changes in addiction

- Increased anxiety, dysphoria, and emotional pain
- Increased sensitivity to stressors
- Difficulty identifying feelings and distinguishing between feelings and the bodily sensations of emotional arousal

Relationship Between Problem Gambling and Substance Use Disorder

- High rates of co-occurrence
- Similar clinical courses
 - o Increased rates in adolescence; decreased rates in older adults
 - o Telescoping pattern in women (progresses quickly in later life)

- Similar clinical characteristics
 - o Tolerance, withdrawal, repeated attempts to cut back or quit
 - Urges and craving states
- Similar biology
 - o Genetic contributions; neural circuits
- Similar treatments
 - Self-help; CBT; MI; naltrexone (modulates dopamine transmission in reward pathway); other medications

Client Care

Crisis Management

- Identification
 - o Always screening for suicide and completing suicide risk assessment
 - o Helpline or mobile crisis services available if client is suicidal
- Resolution
 - O Determining right level of care; also getting family/partner/spouse into care

Referral Resources and Case Management

Understand and articulate when clients need to be referred for gambling specific treatment or other specialized treatment.

Consultation

Determine who are the right professionals to consult and share PHI to help the client. Determine who has more expertise in dealing with disordered gambling and can help determine treatment planning, financial protection, and other individual needs.

Levels of Care and ASAM Criteria

These levels of care provide a standard nomenclature for describing the continuum of recovery-oriented addiction services. Using ASAM allows the clinician to appropriately match treatment services to the disordered gambler's treatment needs.

- Adult Levels of Care
 - Level 0.5 Early Intervention
 - o Level 1 Outpatient Services included Opioid Treatment Program (OTP)
 - o Level 2.1 Intensive Outpatient (IOP)
 - o Level 2.5 Partial Hospitalization (PHP)
 - o Level 3.1 Clinically Managed Low-Intensity Residential
 - o Level 3.3 Clinically Managed Population-Specific High-Intensity Residential
 - o Level 3.5 Clinically Manage High-Intensity Residential
 - o Level 3.7 Medically Monitored Intensive Inpatient
 - o Level 4 Medically Managed Intensive Inpatient

Table 4. ASAM Patient Placement Criteria Levels of Service

Level	Service
Level 0.5 Early Intervention Assessment and education	
Level 1	Outpatient services Adult: <9 hours of service per week Adolescent: <6 hours of service per week
Level 2	Intensive outpatient (IOP)/partial hospitalization services (PHP) Adult: >9 hours of service per week Adolescent: >6 hours of service per week PHP: 20 or more hours of service per week
Level 3	Residential inpatient services 24-hour structure with trained counselors
Level 4	Medically managed intensive inpatient services 24-hour nursing care and daily physician care, counseling available

Source: American Society of Addiction Medicine. An Introduction to the ASAM Criteria for Patients and Families [Brochure]. 2015.

• Six Dimensions

- Acute intoxication/withdrawal potential
- o Biomedical conditions and complications
- o Emotional, behavioral, or cognitive conditions and complications
- Readiness to change
- o Relapse, continued use or continued problem potential
- o Recovery/living environment
- o Financial (added for problem gambling)

• Difficulties Related to Treatment

- o There is no such thing as chance or luck
- Viewing games of chance as games of skill
- o Believing in the idea of control
- Gambling is exciting
- Refusing to change thoughts
- o Tardiness, absences, missed appointments
- Lying during therapy
- Lack of cooperation
- o Depression and suicidal ideation (SI)
- Financial issues
- o Shame

Peer Counseling and Recovery Support Systems

- Depending on treatment setting, peer specialists may be available (VA system)
- Importance of having peers and recovery supports in early recovery

Education

Orientation to Treatment and Recovery

Professional approach to provide evidence-based treatment interventions; education about eclectic approach with theories and understanding of recovery as a process where relapses may be part of the recovery process.

Problem Gambling Information

- Develop ways to provide problem gambling information to clients seeking help for something other than gambling
- Consider discussing all at-risk behaviors including:
 - Cross Addiction
 - o Substituting gambling for chemicals
- Include information about problem gambling in bathrooms, waiting areas, and on the back of other educational fliers

Co-Occurring Disorders

Screens and Assessments

Screens for Depression (PHQ-9) and Anxiety (GAD-7)

Psychopharmacology and Medication

- Limited research of efficacy of medications past 6 months
- Caution about dopamine agonists such as ReQuip and Mirapex that can cause excessive gambling
- Caution about Abilify with FDA warning signs
- Importance of working with PCP or Psychiatrist and being honest about gambling problem for properly treating the whole person

Neurotransmitter	Role in Impulse Control
Norepinephrine (NE)	Arousal, excitement
Serotonin (5HT)	Behavior initiation and cessation
Dopamine (DA)	Reward, reinforcement
Opioids	Pleasure, urges

Medical

- Importance of addressing medical issues that have been neglected due to problematic gambling
- At risk gamblers are more likely to be diagnosed with hypertension, ER treatments, experience an injury, and be obese

- Medications for Parkinson's and Restless Leg Syndrome (Mirapex, Requip) can cause or contribute to disinhibited gambling
- Abilify (antipsychotic used in treatment schizophrenia, depression, and bipolar disorders) has also been found to exacerbate problem gambling behaviors

Problem Gambling and Substance Use

- Past Year Use / Participation Comparison (Barnes et al 2015)
- Gambling (79%), Alcohol (67%), Tobacco (28%) and Marijuana (11%)

Problem Gambling and Mental Health

• Review training materials to understand the importance of mood disorders, personality disorders, and other mental health diagnoses that can impact treatment outcomes

Self-Help Programs

Gamblers Anonymous (GA)

The Twelve Steps of GA

- 1) We admitted we were powerless over gambling that our lives had become unmanageable
 - Gambling is an "emotional illness, progressive in nature, which no amount of willpower can stop or control"
 - Honesty is key when looking at gambling
 - "Our foundation can only be as strong as our continued belief that we are powerless"
- 2) Came to believe that a power greater than ourselves could restore us to a normal way of thinking and living
 - GA views itself as a "spiritual recovery program" which develops a practice of kindness, honesty, generosity, and humility which leads to a belief in a higher power
- 3) Made a decision to turn our will and our lives over to the care of this power of our own understanding
 - <u>Surrender</u> "Through GA we are bound together. We are truly part of one another. This spiritual binding cannot be explained so it seems a higher power is at work"
 - Love of money is a major problem when most people come to the program
- 4) Made a searching and fearless moral and financial inventory of ourselves.
 - Inventory step "Trust your higher power then clean house"
 - Most compulsive gamblers cover their guilt with rationalization
- 5) Admitted to ourselves and to another human being the exact nature of our wrongs
 - Best to complete step 5 shortly after step 4 so it's fresh

- Read step 4 to a trusted person
- Self-honesty increases while guilt decreases
- "I am a human being."
- 6) We're entirely ready to have these defects of character removed
 - Turning point in recovery program
 - "Defects are really disturbances to serenity"
 - Character defects include: anger, conceit, dishonesty, egotism, fear, hatred, inadequacy, laziness, procrastination, remorse, selfishness, and worry
- 7) Humbly ask God (of our understanding) to remove our shortcomings.
 - Ask a higher power to remove character defects daily
- 8) Made a list of all persons we have harmed and became willing to make amends to them all
 - Make a list of people with whom to make amends
- 9) Make direct amends to such people wherever possible, except when to do so would injure them or others
 - Make amends in person where possible
 - Look into pressure relief if needed
- 10) Continued to take personal inventory and when we were wrong, promptly admitted it
 - Continued daily personal inventory
 - Progress, not perfection
 - The ability to cope is the most valuable reward
 - Helps one see personal growth and accomplishments are made
 - Admit when we are wrong
- 11) Sought through prayer and meditation to improve our conscious contact with God as we understood him, praying only for knowledge of his will for us and the power to carry that out
 - Prayer and meditation daily
 - Keeps ego in check
 - Beginning of maintenance phase
- 12) Having made an effort to practice these principles in all our affairs, we tried to carry this message to other compulsive gamblers
 - Give to others through your own working of the 12 steps
 - Put forth the effort and try to carry the message of the 12 steps

Gamblers Anonymous Facts

• Founded January 1957 – two men "concluded from their [monthly] discussions that in order to prevent relapse it was necessary to bring about certain character changes within themselves"

- First meeting was held on 09/13/1957 in Los Angeles, California
- GA is abstinence based
- Almost word-for-word to Alcoholic Anonymous 12 steps
- From the GA website The 12-step program is fundamentally based on ancient spiritual principles and rooted in sound medical therapy. The best recommendation for the program is the fact that "it works"

Gam-Anon

Determine when family members could benefit from the information and support provided by Gam-Anon. Make sure you are familiar with local meetings and even have a contact.

SMART Recovery

This is an alternative to 12-Step and have a 4-Point approach to problem solving people's individual issues.

Faith-based self-help programs

Many people may benefit from support groups that exist at their place of worship, as they need the faith-based connection as part of their recovery program.

Celebrate Recovery ®

This program was developed within the Christian Church to actively provide supports for anyone's hurts, pain, or addiction through a Christ-Centered 12-Step recovery program.

Research Neurobiology, Medication and Psychopharmacology Losses disguised as Wins: Near Misses

- Light up reward circuitry the same as wins
- Rated as unpleasant but simultaneously rated desire to continue the game as higher after near miss
- Subjects play machines with near misses longer than those without

Near Misses and Gambler's Fallacy

- Study of brain damaged patients
- All groups except those with insula damage reported heightened motivation to play following near miss
- Also, on roulette games involving red and black predictions all groups fell prey to gambler's fallacy except those with insula damage

ADHD as Heightened Risk

- Growing evidence that ADHD is a dysfunction in the brain's regulatory systems that manifests as a deficit in behavioral dysregulation
- This dysregulation is mediated by deficits in the prefrontal cortex
- These deficits in prefrontal cortex contribute to disorders likely related to self-regulation, including drug abuse and problem gambling
- (Barkley, 1997; Martin et al., 1994)

Treatment

Evidence-based, peer-reviewed research continues to show that many people are impacted by gambling disorders. Professionals need to stay up to date with current research regarding gambling disorders, but also need to evaluate the efficacy in applying to clinical practice. Most research is not generalizable to clinical practice, and you need to review a large enough body of research that all concludes the same or similar information before applying to clinical practice.

Co-occurring disorders

Research continues to show that certain disorders are often found together with gambling. ADHD, SUD, Depression and Anxiety are the most common co-occurring disorders that appear in numerous research studies. Other disorders may also exist with a gambling disorder but may not be easily applicable across age, race, and cultural.

List of medications that have been studied:

- Anti-depressants
- Mood stabilizers
- Anti-psychotics
- Opioid antagonists
- N-acetyl cysteine
- NMDA antagonists (memantine)
- COMT inhibitors (tolcapone
- Opioid Antagonists: Naltrexone

The mu-opioid system underlies urge regulation through the processing of reward, pleasure, and pain, at least in part via modulation of dopamine neurons in mesolimbic pathway through GABA interneurons.

Continuing Care

The importance of continuing care requires professionals to determine what clients need after they have successfully completed treatment goals related to their gambling problems. Types of continuing care include PCP appointments, psychiatry appointments or follow-up

appointments for medication management, and even whether relationship or family counseling should be considered.

Medical and/or Psychiatric Appointments

Self-care is often not a priority among disordered gamblers. Disordered gamblers often experience periods of anxiety and depression, even to the point of suicide. As part of continuing care, clinicians should continually assess the need for medical and/or psychiatric evaluations.

Medication Assisted Treatment (MAT)

Antidepressants and mood stabilizers may help problems that often go along with disordered gambling — such as depression, OCD or ADHD. Some antidepressants may be effective in reducing gambling behavior. Medications called narcotic antagonists, useful in treating substance misuse, may help treat disordered gambling.

Many medications have been studied in the treatment of gambling disorder. To date the only medications that have consistently been found to directly address gambling cravings and behaviors are opioid antagonists such as Naltrexone. Other medications may be addressing the co-occurring symptoms frequently found with gambling disorder.

Relapse Prevention

The goal of relapse prevention approaches is to identify the situations that put the person at high risk of relapse and increase their ability to cope with them. In disordered gambling, these approaches are implemented once the disordered gambler begins treatment.

Utilizing different therapies, e.g., CBT have been found to help disordered gamblers manage their gambling urges, be assertive when feeling pressured to gamble and cope with gambling triggers. Additionally, engaging in recreational activities that are meaningful and increase their interaction with others, filling the void with healthy activities and continuing in self-help group participation are also very important for the disordered gambler.

Alumni Participation

Conduct "alumni meetings" for graduates of your program. In addition, attempt to engage disordered gambling clients who are celebrating an anniversary. These types of activities often can encourage continued abstinence and recovery.

Special Issues in Gambling Treatment

- Problem Gambling Treatment Considerations
 - Acknowledge relevancy of racial identity, racism, classism, and other "isms" in life of clients
 - Consider your own cultural identity/ies and potential conflicts in treatment
 (positive and negative) (Helms & Cook, 1999; Brooks, Haskins, & Kehe, 2004)
- Treatment and Outreach (Knowledge and Skills)
 - Emphasis on ecological validity
- Advocate and deliver treatment in the community
 - o Emphasis on multi-problem approach
- Service deliverers are charged with recognizing and responding to a range of presenting needs
- Clinicians must assume many roles—teacher/therapist/advocate
 - Use paraprofessionals
- One of the best ways to use indigenous resources (June & Black, 2002; Haskins, 2011)
- Race, Socioeconomic status, and gambling
- "One of the most highly charged issues in America" (Liu & Pope-Davis, 2004)
 - o Influence on help-seeking, dynamics between mental health counselor and client
 - o Influence on individual's identity
- Consistent Finding Worldwide
 - The most marginalized economic and cultural groups have highest rates of problem gambling
- Research Summary
 - Neighborhood disadvantage significant factor overall (Welte, Barnes, Tidwell, & Wieczorek, 2017)
 - African Americans, Hispanic, Native Amer/Alaska Native higher rates of problem gambling. Stronger association of subsyndromal gambling and Axis I and II disorders (Barry, Stefanovics, Desai, & Potenza, 2011, Jan–Feb; Barry,

- Stefanovics, Desai, & Potenza, 2011, March; Kong, Smith, Pilver, Hoffa, & Potenza, 2016)
- Neighborhood disadvantage significantly greater effect on overall gambling, frequent gambling, and problem gambling for Native Americans than rest of U.S. population (and other ethnic groups) (Barnes, Welte, & Tidwell, 2017)

Adolescence

Teenagers and young adults are natural risk takers. Frontal lobe development, or lack thereof, makes judgment calls "iffy" and cause impulse control issues. If a teen is doing music or sports or academics, those are the cells and connections that will be hardwired. If they are lying on the couch or playing video games [or online poker], those are the cells and connections that are going to survive.

Data on Youth Gambling

- There is limited data on the prevalence of gambling among youth
- There is a wide degree of variability in the data available

Research Summary

- Problem and pathological gambling have several concomitant negative personal, familial, social, economic and health consequences.
- Prevalence rates in the U.S., Canada, Australia, New Zealand, and the U.K. indicate about 80% of underage youth report gambling during the past year (Rossen, Butler, & Denny, 2011)
- 4–6% experience severe problems and 10–15% are at risk for the development of a severe gambling problem (Rossen, Butler, & Denny, 2011)
- Historically, prevalence rates of adolescents with a gambling problem have been greater than those of adults, but new research is needed to determine current prevalence rates
- Adolescents with a gambling problem report beginning gambling at earlier ages, about 10 years of age
- "Existing evidence suggests that many gamblers start gambling at a relatively young age and that the onset of this behavior is strongly influenced by peer and family influences" (Delfabbro & Thrupp, 2003)
- Adolescents move rapidly from social gambler to problem gambler and report early gambling in the home and with family
- Gambling is more popular among males and more males experience problem gambling
- "Through involvement in gambling, young people learn that gambling is an acceptable social past-time (which is problematic in itself) and also how to gamble." (Richard, Blaszczynski & Nower, 2013, p. 80)

Warning Signs of Adolescent Problem Gambling

- "Chases" losses frequently (returns to gambling activities to win back money lost)
- Has growing debts
- Promises to cut back on gambling
- Boasts about winning
- Prefers gambling to other activities
- Seeks to gamble with friends and/or parents
- Appears "spaced out" (dissociative reactions) while gambling
- Repeatedly seeks new places and venues to gamble
- Shows an interest in parent's or sibling's gambling
- Asks parents to place bets for them
- Is a high frequency video game player, especially enjoying computer/video simulated gambling type games
- Repeatedly seeks activities that produce a "high" (physiological arousal)
- Has been involved in borrowing or stealing money and can't remember what the money was spent on
- Appears nervous when observed sports events on television. Carries excessive amounts of cash

Older Adults

- Senior citizens are the fastest growing age group in America
- Older adults now form the largest group of annual visitors to Las Vegas (Las Vegas Convention and Visitors' Authority)
- In studies with national samples, older adults were found to be less likely to have a gambling problem than other age groups. (National Gambling Impact Study Commission, 2007)

Why focus on older adults?

- Baby boomers
- Easy access to facilities
- Important market for gaming industry
- Opportunity and time

Older Adults with a gambling problem

- Distinct subgroups
- Late onset: gambling problems begin around age 60
- Gambling tied to situational factors in middle age
- Non-strategic forms of gambling

- Rapid escalation, especially with women
- Fear of suicide primary reason for seeking help and self-exclusion

Older women are participating in gambling activities in increasing numbers

- Often triggered by feelings
 - (e.g., being bored, feeling sad/lonely) (Grant & Kim, 2002)
- Have a later age of onset
 - (women: 54.8; men: 33.2) (Petry, 2002)
- Reach problematic levels of gambling faster
 - (women: 5.6 years; men: 16 years) (Petry, 2002)
- Enter treatment sooner
 - (women: 4–5 years; men: 11 years) (Petry, 2002)

Reasons Older Adults Gamble

- Disposable income
- Opportunity and availability
- Tradition
- Excitement
- Boredom
- Forget problems
- Relief from caretaking
- Limited recreational alternatives (physical limitations, social limitations)
- Loneliness and/or depression
- Loss of spouse/friends/family
- Adjustment to new location
- Relieves physical pain
- Supplement income
- To be of value (illusion of generativity)
- Targeted by the gambling industry as a lucrative market (Singh, Moufakkir, & Holecek, 2007)

Role of the PCP

- Older adults with a gambling problem may seek help from their physician (PCP) for gambling-related complaints (Fessler, 1996)
- PCP is challenged with task of identification and treatment

Gender

Women

- Women have been largely invisible in problem gambling research
- Most research based on samples of males with a gambling problem
- Too few females included to determine if differences exist
- Widespread assumption that what holds true for men will also hold true for women

Understanding Women's Gambling

• Social roles are important

Acceptability is as important as availability

- Characteristics of gambling venues are important
 - Flexible hours
 - Local availability
 - o Low price of participation
 - o Clean, attractive locations
 - Physical safety
 - Availability of childcare
 - Females with a Gambling Problem: Reasons for Gambling (Boughton & Falenchuk, 2007) n = 364
- Mood Management, Stress Relief and Autonomy/Freedom

Cultural Minorities

- Why does cultural attunement matter in problem gambling awareness/treatment?
 - o Less than 10% ever seek problem gambling treatment (NCPG.org)
 - Culturally diverse communities rely on their own natural ecosystems
 (Boyd-Franklin, 2013; Harvey, 1996; Haskins, 2011; Haskins, 2014; Haskins, In Press; Brooks, Haskins, & Kehe, 2004)
- Cultural Competence Definition (SAMHSA.gov)
 - o Ability to interact effectively with people of different cultures
 - o Helps to ensure the needs of all community members are addressed
 - o In practice, both persons and organizations can be culturally competent.
 - o Culture must be considered at every step of the Strategic Framework.
 - o Goes beyond just race or ethnicity and can refer to age, gender, sexual orientation, disability, religion, income level, education, geographical location, or profession
- Barriers to Care
 - Language

- o Immigration status
- o Unfamiliar forms of healing and treatment
- Mistrust of "white" intrusions
- Mistrust of agencies which have been oppressive (e.g., police, ICE, foster care systems, educational systems)
- Level of acculturation (age/gender)
- o Shame
- Lack of insurance and finances to pay
- Accessibility of treatment venues

Relapse and Relapse Prevention

Relapse Prevention requires understanding warning signs, access to gambling, access to money, and effectively coping with boredom and idle time.

- Relapse does not have to be a part of Recovery
- Problem and Disordered Gambling has a high rate of relapse because:
 - o Gambling is so socially acceptable
 - o Gambling is everywhere
 - It has less awareness about risks than alcohol

Suicide

Being direct when talking with clients about their thoughts of suicide and death is uncomfortable. However, you must overcome this discomfort, as it may lead a counselor to ask a guaranteed conversation-ending question, such as "You don't have thoughts about killing yourself, do you?" Discomfort can also lead counselors to avoid asking directly about suicidality, which may convey uneasiness to the patient, imply that the topic is taboo, or result in confusion or lack of clarity. Instead, counselors can learn to ask, "Are you thinking about killing yourself?" or "Are you thinking about ending your life?" (Center for Substance Abuse Treatment, 2017).

- About 19% of those with a gambling problem have made a suicide attempt (DSM-5)
- People who gamble excessively experience higher rates of suicide
- Research shows a strong link between gambling disorder and both suicidal ideation and attempts
 - The risk increases in people who have co-occurring mental illness or substance use issues.
 - More than 21% of those with a gambling problem in Oregon treatment in 2007 had suicidal thoughts, and more than 7% had attempted suicide
- A Nova Scotia study listed problem gambling as a factor in 6.3% of suicides. (Hayward & Colman, 2004)

Trauma and Survivors Issues

Trauma is linked to an increase of at-risk gambling, as well as several other behavioral, mental, and physical health issues. It is important to practice trauma-informed care and recognize that gambling may serve a purpose in coping with traumas.

Childhood trauma and Problem Gambling

- Men with gambling addictions are more likely than their peers to have endured childhood traumas like physical abuse or violence at home.
- Compared with men who rarely if ever placed wagers, the men with a gambling disorder were more than twice as likely to have witnessed violence at home or to have experienced physical abuse or assault growing up. They were also more than three times as likely to have suffered a serious or life-threatening injury as kids.
- About 10% of those who have compulsive or problem gambling also experienced physical abuse or assaults as children
- This doesn't mean, however, that every person with a traumatic childhood will grow up to become a compulsive gambler. (Roberts, Sharmana, Coid, Murphy, Bowden-Jones, Cowlishawe, et al., 2017)
- A study by the National Institutes of Health found that 80% of people who reported being the victims of domestic violence by their partner said that the partner had a problem such as compulsive gambling or alcohol abuse
- Children of those with a gambling problem are 2 to 3 times more likely to be abused by a parent than their peers

PTSD and Rates of Problem Gambling

- In clinical and community samples of individuals with gambling disorder:
 - o 17% (Westermeyer, Canive, Garrard, Thuras, & Thompson, 2005)
 - o 19% (Lederwood & Milosevic, 2015)
 - o 24% (Toneatto & Pillai, 2016)
 - o 34% (Ledgerwood & Petry, 2006)
 - o 41% (Taylor & Sharpe, 2008)

Chronic Illness

Serious Mental Illness and Gambling Disorder

- 19% of individuals in treatment with diagnosis of schizophrenia or schizoaffective disorder met criteria for problem or pathological gambling
- PG associated with depression, alcohol use problems, greater legal problems, and higher utilization of MH treatment (this associated with recreational gambling as well)
- (Desai & Potenza, 2009)

- Among adults diagnosed with psychotic disorders in an Australian sample:
 - o 4% low risk gambling
 - o 6% moderate risk
 - o 6% disordered gambling
 - o (Haydock, Cowlishaw, Harvey, & Castle, 2015)
- With PG, comorbidity is the rule, not the exception (Petry, Stinson, & Grant, 2005)
 - ~75% have a history of an alcohol use disorder
 - o ~60% have a history of nicotine dependence
 - ~60% have a history of a personality disorder
 - ~50% have a history of a mood disorder
 - o ~40% have a history of an anxiety disorder
 - o ~40% have a history of a substance use disorder

Criminal Justice

Most individuals with a gambling disorder do not engage in criminal behavior. However, those who do may be involved in:

- Theft
- Embezzlement
- Fraud

Some may find themselves in court because of:

- Domestic violence
- Child support and custody issues
- Possession of illegal substances
- Bankruptcy/financial problems

Mitigating circumstances have been used in successfully in:

- Disbarments, tax cases, bankruptcies
- Divorce, civil cases
- Criminal cases (embezzlement, bad checks, larceny, forgery, etc.)
- Personal injury claims
- Against casinos

Military

 The DOD or its subcontractor operates about 3,500 slot machines on bases around the world

- Problem gambling was estimated at 8.1% among veterans while it is 3.9% among the civilian population (Bray et al., 1998)
- Pathological gambling was 2.2% in veterans and 1.6% in the civilian population.
- "The ready availability of gambling opportunities for those in the military, coupled with a lack of treatment options, screening, and prevention programs, and the military's elevated rates of pathological gambling necessitate greater attention to the problem" (Emshoff, Gilmore, & Zorland 2010)
- Westermeyer, Canive, Garrard, Thuras, and Thompson (2005) surveyed 1228 American Indian and Hispanic American Veterans in the southwest and north central region of the United States
 - Results: 10% of American Indian had a lifetime prevalence rate and Hispanic Americans had a 4% lifetime rate
- Veterans with gambling problems have co-occurring disorders that include:
 - o Intimate partner violence
 - Post-traumatic stress disorder
 - Substance use disorder
 - o Depression
 - o Suicide (Emshoff, Gilmore, & Zorland, 2010)
 - Veterans with PTSD are 60 times more likely to have a gambling problem than the general population. (Biddle, Hawthorne, Forbes, & Coman, 2005)
- Of psychiatric hospitalized veterans
 - o 28% were classified as problem gamblers
 - o 12% as pathological gamblers (Biddle, Hawthorne, Forbes, & Coman, 2005)
 - Depression among the pathological gambling veterans has been as high as 76%.
 (McCormick, Russo, Ramirez, & Taber, 1984)
 - Suicide attempts reported by 40% of veterans seeking treatment for gambling.
 (Kausch, 2003)
- National Defense Authorization Act
 - National Defense Authorization Act for Fiscal Year 2019 (NDAA) includes a provision requiring members of the Armed Forces to be screened for gambling addiction
 - Section 733 of the House Armed Services Committee Report 115-874 requires the Department of Defense (DoD) to incorporate medical screening questions specific to gambling disorder in the next annual periodic health assessment conducted by the Department as well as in the health-related Behaviors Surveys of Active-Duty and reserve component servicemembers. The Secretary of Defense is required to

- submit a report to Congress on the findings of the assessment and surveys in connection with the prevalence of gambling disorder among servicemembers.
- The DoD generates \$100 million each year from the 3,141 slot machines on overseas bases. Slot machines have been outlawed on domestic military installations since 1951. The National Council on Problem Gambling estimates that as many as 56,000 active-duty members of the Armed Forces meet criteria for gambling disorder.

Stigma

Stigma has been identified as a major barrier to seeking help, treatment, and recovery for individuals with problematic and disordered gambling. There is very little research to examine the cause, the depth and/or impact of stigma and GD. The secrecy of the disorder can impact effective screening and suicidality in early prevention and intervention. Addressing the deep feelings of shame and how it relates to one's view of stigma and societal perspective is a helpful technique in engaging clients in care.

Professional Issues (National / International)

Law and Regulations

Client Rights

- Confidentiality as it pertains to Gambling Disorder
- Informed Consent
- Reporting (Mandated)
 - Child/Other Abuse
 - Duty to Warn

Discrimination

The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) does not cover Gambling Disorder as it does with Substance Use Disorders. Professionals must exercise caution when sharing confidential information with other agencies, regardless of a release of information (ROI) as individuals do not have the same protection. Consider the protections afforded with someone gets caught under the influence of alcohol while on the job. This does not equally cover gambling disorder.

Continuous Quality Improvement

Professionals should exercise evaluative practice of their own clinical practice to ensure they are being effective at treating problem gambling. Many Codes of Ethics for counseling professionals include not only providing satisfaction surveys but evaluating the effectiveness of clinical interventions throughout the course of treatment.

Managed Care

- Utilization Review
 - O Historically, insurance companies would deny insurance claims when Gambling Disorder was submitted as a primary disorder. Many professionals were trained to submit claims with depression or anxiety as a primary diagnosis. This resulted in insufficient and incomplete claims data and professionals were left without recourse for reimbursement. Many states would provide funding for gambling disorders because of the lack of insurance reimbursement. In current times, most commercial insurance companies in the US cover gambling disorder as a primary disorder. However, in the US, both Medicare and Medicaid still do not cover gambling disorder as a primary disorder.

• Outcome Studies

o In current times, there continues to be a lack of outcome studies for gambling disorders. If you <u>scholar.google.com</u>, you will not find many studies with results

(outcomes) for health care or mental health care systems and the well-being of their patients/clients.

Ethics as it pertains to IGCCB Standards (Review and compare to your licensing board ethics)

Supervision

Administrative (insurance, billing, caseload composition, program & agency policy, and procedure)

Administrative supervision often occurs at your place of employment, and you are advised on what and how to do things related to the operations of the agency.

Clinical (overall approach to each client in your care)

Clinical supervision often occurs at your place of employment, and it is about your overall approach to each client, not necessarily gambling specific.

Gambling Specific Consultation (adhering to best practices related to gambling disorders, often with a BACC or in peer supervision)

Gambling specific supervision occurs when you seek consultation with an expert in the field of gambling disorders. The consultation is focused on all aspects of treating the client with a gambling disorder. This consultation does not provide agency-related recommendations or override any policies and procedures that must be followed at the place of employment.

Intersections of Gaming and Gambling

Gaming and gambling

- Monetization of video games
- Betting/wagering mechanics
- Skill VS Luck
- Virtual currency/items
- Loot boxes
- Simulated casinos & social casinos
- Esports betting & wagering
- In 2013: American Psychiatric Association (APA) listed Internet Gaming Disorder in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders- 5 (DSM-5)
 - Know the criteria for Internet Gaming Disorder listed in the DSM-5

Internet Gaming Disorder

Proposed Criteria

Persistent and recurrent use of the Internet to engage in games, often with other players, leading to clinically significant impairment or distress as indicated by five (or more) of the following in a 12-month period:

- Preoccupation with Internet games. (The individual thinks about previous gaming activity or anticipates playing the next game; Internet gaming becomes the dominant activity in daily life).
 - **Note:** This disorder is distinct from Internet gambling, which is included under gambling disorder.
- Withdrawal symptoms when Internet gaming is taken away. (These symptoms are typically described as irritability, anxiety, or sadness, but there are no physical signs of pharmacological withdrawal.)
- Tolerance—the need to spend increasing amounts of time engaged in Internet games.
- Unsuccessful attempts to control the participation in Internet games.
- Loss of interests in previous hobbies and entertainment as a result of, and with the exception of, Internet games.
- Continued excessive use of Internet games despite knowledge of psychosocial problems.
- Has deceived family members, therapists, or others regarding the amount of Internet gaming.
- Use of Internet games to escape or relieve a negative mood (e.g., feelings of helplessness, guilt, anxiety).
- Has jeopardized or lost a significant relationship, job, or educational or career opportunity because of participation in Internet games.

Note: Only nongambling Internet games are included in this disorder. Use of the Internet for required activities in a business or profession is not included; nor is the disorder intended to include other recreational or social Internet use. Similarly, sexual Internet sites are excluded.

Specify current severity:

Internet gaming disorder can be mild, moderate, or severe depending on the degree of disruption of normal activities. Individuals with less severe Internet gaming disorder may exhibit fewer symptoms and less disruption of their lives. Those with severe Internet gaming disorder will have more hours spent on the computer and more severe loss of relationships or career or school opportunities.

Subtypes

There are no well-researched subtypes for Internet gaming disorder to date. Internet gaming disorder most often involves specific Internet games, but it could involve non-Internet computerized games as well, although these have been less researched. It is likely that preferred games will vary over time as new games are developed and popularized, and it is unclear if behaviors and consequence associated with Internet gaming disorder vary by game type.

Diagnostic Features

Gambling disorder is currently the only non-substance-related disorder proposed for inclusion with DSM-5 substance-related and addictive disorders. However, there are other behavioral disorders that show some similarities to substance use disorders and gambling disorder for which the word addiction is commonly used in nonmedical settings, and the one condition with a considerable literature is the compulsive playing of Internet games. Internet gaming has been reportedly defined as an "addiction" by the Chinese government, and a treatment system has been set up. Reports of treatment of this condition have appeared in medical journals, mostly from Asian countries and some in the United States.

The DSM-5 work group reviewed more than 240 articles and found some behavioral similarities of Internet gaming to gambling disorder and to substance use disorders. The literature suffers, however, from lack of a standard definition from which to derive prevalence data. An understanding of the natural histories of cases, with or without treatment, is also missing. The literature does describe many underlying similarities to substance addictions, including aspects of tolerance, withdrawal, repeated unsuccessful attempts to cut back or quit, and impairment in normal functioning. Further, the seemingly high prevalence rates, both in Asian countries and, to a lesser extent, in the West, justified inclusion of this disorder in Section III of DSM-5.

Internet gaming disorder has significant public health importance, and additional research may eventually lead to evidence that Internet gaming disorder (also commonly referred to as *Internet use disorder*, *Internet addiction*, or *gaming addiction*) has merit as an independent disorder. As with gambling disorder, there should be epidemiological studies to determine prevalence, clinical course, possible genetic influence, and potential biological factors based on, for example, brain imaging data.

Internet gaming disorder is a pattern of excessive and prolonged Internet gaming that results in a cluster of cognitive and behavioral symptoms, including progressive loss of control over gaming, tolerance, and withdrawal symptoms, analogous to the symptoms of substance use disorders. As with substance-related disorders, individuals with Internet gaming disorder continue to sit at a computer and engage in gaming activities despite neglect of other activities. They typically devote 8–10 hours or more per day to this activity and at least 30 hours per week. If they are prevented from using a computer and returning to the game, they become agitated and angry. They often go for long periods without food or sleep. Nor-

mal obligations, such as school or work, or family obligations are neglected. This condition is separate from gambling disorder involving the Internet because money is not at risk.

The essential feature of Internet gaming disorder is persistent and recurrent participation in computer gaming, typically group games, for many hours. These games involve competition between groups of players (often in different global regions, so that duration of play is encouraged by the time-zone independence) participating in complex structured activities that include a significant aspect of social interactions during play. Team aspects appear to be a key motivation. Attempts to direct the individual toward schoolwork or interpersonal activities are strongly resisted. Thus personal, family, or vocational pursuits are neglected. When individuals are asked, the major reasons given for using the computer are more likely to be "avoiding boredom" rather than communicating or searching for information.

The description of criteria related to this condition is adapted from a study in China. Until the optimal criteria and threshold for diagnosis are determined empirically, conservative definitions ought to be used, such that diagnoses are considered for endorsement of five or more of nine criteria.

Associated Features Supporting Diagnosis

No consistent personality types associated with Internet gaming disorder have been identified. Some authors describe associated diagnoses, such as depressive disorders, attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder (ADHD), or obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD). Individuals with compulsive Internet gaming have demonstrated brain activation in specific regions triggered by exposure to the Internet game but not limited to reward system structures

Prevalence

The prevalence of Internet gaming disorder is unclear because of the varying questionnaires, criteria and thresholds employed, but it seems to be highest in Asian countries and in male adolescents 12–20 years of age. There is an abundance of reports from Asian countries, especially China and South Korea, but fewer from Europe and North America, from which prevalence estimates are highly variable. The point prevalence in adolescents (ages 15–19 years) in one Asian study using a threshold of five criteria was 8.4% for males and 4.5% for females.

Risk and Prognostic Factors

Environmental. Computer availability with Internet connection allows access to the types of games with which Internet gaming disorder is most often associated.

Genetic and physiological. Adolescent males seem to be at greatest risk of developing Internet gaming disorder, and it has been speculated that Asian environmental and/or genetic background is another risk factor, but this remains unclear.

Functional Consequences of Internet Gaming Disorder

Internet gaming disorder may lead to school failure, job loss, or marriage failure. The compulsive gaming behavior tends to crowd out normal social, scholastic, and family activities. Students may show declining grades and eventually failure in school. Family responsibilities may be neglected.

Differential Diagnosis

Excessive use of the Internet not involving playing of online games (e.g., excessive use of social media, such as Facebook; viewing pornography online) is not considered analogous

to Internet gaming disorder, and future research on other excessive uses of the Internet would need to follow similar guidelines as suggested herein. Excessive gambling online may qualify for a separate diagnosis of gambling disorder.

Comorbidity

Health may be neglected due to compulsive gaming. Other diagnoses that may be associated with Internet gaming disorder include major depressive disorder, ADHD, and OCD.

- In 2018: The World Health Organization included Gaming Disorder in the International Classification of Diseases 11
 - Know the criteria for Gaming Disorder listed in the ICD-11





Health Topics v

Countries v

Newsroom v

Emerg

Home / Newsroom / Questions and answers / Addictive behaviours: Gaming disorder

Addictive behaviours: Gaming disorder

22 October 2020 | Q&A

What is gaming disorder?

Gaming disorder is defined in the 11th Revision of the International Classification of Diseases (ICD-11) as a pattern of gaming behavior ("digital-gaming" or "video-gaming") characterized by impaired control over gaming, increasing priority given to gaming over other activities to the extent that gaming takes precedence over other interests and daily activities, and continuation or escalation of gaming despite the occurrence of negative consequences.

For gaming disorder to be diagnosed, the behaviour pattern must be of sufficient severity to result in significant impairment in personal, family, social, educational, occupational or other important areas of functioning and would normally have been evident for at least 12 months.

- 6C51 Gaming Disorder
 - 6C51.0 Gaming Disorder, predominantly online
 - 6C51.1 Gaming Disorder, predominantly offline

Monetization gaming mechanics

Free/earned currency of in-game value only

- Earned by progression
- Free/earned currency that incentivizes play
- Points for gifts/currency/items
- Optional purchases
- Skins, cosmetic items
- Points or currency to progress
- Mandatory payment
- Entry fee or subscription price

Monetization business models

- Pay to Play (P2P or PtP)
- Genre of video game: MMORPGS
- Free to Play (F2P or FtP)
- Genre of video game: MOBA
- Pay to Win (P2W or PtW)
- Gamers known as 'Whales'

NEW Monetization business models

- Play-to-earn
- NFTs
- Cryptocurrency

Loot boxes

- An in-game purchase consisting of a virtual container that awards players with items and modifications based on chance or adjusted probabilities.
- Designed to provide repeated cycles of uncertainty, anticipation, and feedback
- Designed to be part of a compulsion loop of game design
- Intermittent reinforcement using incentives: Keep players coming back

Sports Betting

- More and more states in the US continue to expand legalized sports betting. This is a trend that has already happened in other countries
- Many brick and mortar casinos are adding "sports books" for sports betting
- Blurred lines between sports betting and online sports betting
- Generational characteristics play an important role in treatment of sports betting

Online Gambling

- Overall term used for all forms of gambling online (internet)
- Includes sports betting, casino slots, social casinos, and online games
- Illegal betting sites

Specific Cultural gambling activities

• Culturally specific forms of gambling (i.e., cock fighting, dog fighting, mahjong)

Cryptocurrency

- Multiple ways to purchase and use cryptocurrency to gamble, mostly online
- Many virtual apps use crypto to conceal the money transactions
- Crypto use is increasing as credit and banking merchants are declining or blocking gambling transactions (especially when transactions are frequent and compulsive-like in nature)

REFERENCES FOR THE EXAM

The International Gambling Counselor Certification Board has prepared a suggested reference list to assist in preparing for the International Certification Examination for Gambling Counselors. To view this list, please visit the 'Examination' page on IGCCB's website and review the uploaded Handbook.

These references contain journals and textbooks which include information of significance to gambling counseling practice. Inclusion of certain journals and textbooks on this list does not constitute an endorsement by the IGCCB of specific professional literature which, if used, would guarantee candidates' successful passing of the certification examination.

Additional References for Study

- ADHD Editorial Board. (2018, June 20). WHO classifies gaming disorder as a new mental health condition. ADDitude.
- Afifi, T. O., Brownridge, D. A., MacMillan, H., & Sareen, J. (2010). The relationship of gambling to intimate partner violence and child maltreatment in a nationally representative sample. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 44(5), 331–337.
- Afifi, T. O., Cox, B. J., & Sareen, J. (2006). Gambling-related problems are chronic and persist for the majority of individuals with a lifetime diagnosis of pathological gambling. American Journal of Psychiatry, 163(7), 1297.
- American Gaming Association & Gambling Compliance. (2019). State of the states 2019: The AGA survey of the commercial casino industry. Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1994). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (4th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders (5th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- Anderson, G., & Brown, R. I. (1984). Real and laboratory gambling, sensation-seeking and arousal. British Journal of Psychology, 75, 401–410.
- Balodis, I. M., Kober, H., Worhunsky, P. D., Stevens, M. C., Pearlson, G. D., Carroll, K. M., & Potenza, M. N. (2016). Neurofunctional reward processing changes in cocaine dependence during recovery. Neuropsychopharmacology, 41(8), 2112–2121.
- Barkley, R. (1997). ADHD and the Nature of Self-Control. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Barnes, G. M., Welte, J. W., & Tidwell, M.-C. O. (2017). Gambling involvement among Native Americans, Blacks, and Whites in the United States. American Journal on Addictions, 26(7), 713–721.
- Barnes, G. M., Welte, J. W., Tidwell, M.-C. O., & Hoffman, J. H. (2015). Gambling and substance use: Co-occurrence among adults in a recent general population study in the United States. International Gambling Studies, 15(1), 55–71.
- Barry, D. T., Stefanovics, E. A., Desai, R. A., & Potenza, M. N. (2011, Jan–Feb). Differences in the associations between gambling problem severity and psychiatric disorders among black and white

- adults: Findings from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions. American Journal on Addictions, 20(1), 69–77.
- Barry, D. T., Stefanovics, E. A., Desai, R. A., & Potenza, M. N. (2011, March). Gambling problem severity and psychiatric disorders among Hispanic and white adults: Findings from a nationally representative sample. Journal of Psychiatric Residents, 45(3), 404–411.
- Biddle, D., Hawthorne, G., Forbes, D., & Coman, G. (2005). Problem gambling in Australian PTSD treatment seeking veterans. Journal of Traumatic Stress, 18, 759–767.
- Birch, P., Ireland, J. L., Strickland, C., & Kolstee, J. (2015). Examining gambling and mental health in LGBTI communities: Executive summary of findings from a preliminary NSW study. Medical Research Archives: KEI Journals.
- Black, D. W., Shaw, M., McCormick, B., & Allen, J. Pathological gambling: Relationship to obesity, self-reported chronic medical conditions, poor lifestyle choices, and impaired quality of life. Comprehensive Psychiatry, 54(2), 97–104.
- Blaszczynski, A., & Nower, L. (2002). A pathways model of problem and pathological gambling. Addiction, 97(5), 487–499.
- Blaszczynski, A., McConaghy, N., & Frankova, A. (1991). Control versus abstinence in the treatment of pathological gambling: A two to nine year follow-up. British Journal of Addiction, 86(3), 299–306.
- Blaszczynski, A., Walker, M., Sharpe, L., & Nower, L. (2008). Withdrawal and tolerance phenomenon in problem gambling. International Gambling Studies, 8(2), 179–192.
- Boughton, R., & Falenchuk, O. (2007). Vulnerability and comorbidity factors of female problem gambling. Journal of Gambling Studies, 23(3), 323–334.
- Boyd-Franklin, N. (2003). Black families in therapy. New York: Guildford Press.
- Boyd, W. H. (1976). Excitement: The gambler's drug. In Eadington, W. R. (Ed.), Gambling and society: Interdisciplinary studies on the subject of gambling (pp. 371–375). Springfield, IL: Charles C Thomas.
- Boysen, G. A. (2010). Integrating implicit bias into counselor education. Counselor Education and Supervision, 49(4), 210–227.
- Bray, R. M., Sanchez, R. P., Ornstein, M. L., Lentine, D., Vincus, A. A., Baird, T. U., Walker, J. A., Wheeless, S. C., Guess, L. L., Kroutil, L. A., & Iannacchione, V. G. (1999). 1998 Department of Defense survey of health related behaviors among military personnel (No. RTI/7304/006-FR). Research Triangle Park, NC: Research Triangle Institute.
- Bray, R. M., Sanchez, R. P., Ornstein, M. L., Lentine, D., Vincus, A. A., Baird, T. U., Walker, J. A., Wheeless, S. C., Guess, L. L., Kroutil, L. A., & Iannacchione, V. G. (1999). 1998 Department of Defense survey of health related behaviors among military personnel (No. RTI/7304/006-FR). Research Triangle Park, NC: Research Triangle Institute.
- Breen, R., & Zuckerman, M. (1999). 'Chasing' in gambling behavior: Personality and cognitive determinants. Personality and Individual Differences, 27(6), 1097–1111.

- Breiter, H. C., Aharon, I., Kahneman, D., Dale, A., & Shizgal, P. (2001). Functional imaging of neural responses to expectancy and experience of monetary gains and losses. Neuron, 30(2), 619–639.
- Breiter, H. C., Aharon, I., Kahneman, D., Dale, A., & Shizgal, P. (2001). Functional imaging of neural responses to expectancy and experience of monetary gains and losses. Neuron, 30(2), 619–639.
- Brewer, J. A., Ruf, A., Beccia, A. L., Essien, G. I., Finn, L. M., van Lutterveld, R., & Mason, A. E. (2018). Can mindfulness address maladaptive eating behaviors? Why traditional diet plans fail and how new mechanistic insights may lead to novel interventions. Frontiers in Psychology, 9, 14–18.
- Breyer, J. L., Botzet, A. M., Winters, K. C., Stinchfield, R. D., August, G., & Realmuto, G. (2009). Young adult gambling behaviors and their relationship with the persistence of ADHD. Journal of Gambling Studies, 25(2), 227–238.
- Brooks, L. J., Haskins, D. G., & Kehe, J. V. (2004). Counseling and psychotherapy with African American clients. In Smith, T. B. (Ed.), Practicing multiculturalism: Affirming diversity in counseling and psychology, (pp. 145–166). Boston: Pearson.
- Browman, N. & Hakansson, A. (2018). Problematic Gaming and internet use but not gambling may be overrepresented in sexual minorities: A pilot population web survey study. Frontiers in Psychology, 9, 2184.
- Brown, J., Dries, S., & Nace, D. K. (1999). What Really Makes a Difference in Psychotherapy Outcome? Why Does Managed Care Want to Know? In M. A. Hubble, B. L. Duncan, & S. L Miller (Eds.), The Heart and Soul of Change: What Works in Therapy (407–448). Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Calado, F., & Griffiths, M. D. (2016). Problem gambling worldwide: An update and systematic review of empirical research (2000–2015). Journal of Behavioral Addictions, 5(4) 397–424.
- Carnie, K. (2007). The self-reported motivation of problem gamblers for seeking problem gambling counselling. Bethany Community Support and the University of Ballarat.
- Center for Substance Abuse Treatment. (2005). Substance abuse treatment for persons with co-occurring disorders. Treatment improvement protocol (TIP) series, No. 42 (HHS Publication No. (SMA)13-3992). Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- Center for Substance Abuse Treatment. (2009). Addressing suicidal thoughts and behaviors in substance abuse treatment. Treatment improvement protocol (TIP) series, No. 50. (HHS Publication No. (SMA) 154381). Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- Centre for Addiction and Mental Health (2015). The Ontario student drug use and health survey (OSDUHS). Toronto: Author.
- Chou, K.-L., & Afifi, T. O. (2011). Disordered (pathologic or problem) gambling and axis I psychiatric disorders: Results from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions. American Journal of Epidemiology, 173(11), 1289–1297.
- Ciarrocchi, J. (2002). Counseling problem gamblers: A self-regulation manual for individual and family therapy. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Committee on the Social and Economic Impact of Pathological Gambling. (1999). Pathological gambling: A critical review. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.

- Cunningham-Williams, R. M., Cottler, L. B, Books, S. J. (2001). Gambling assessment module self-administered (GAM-IV-S©). St. Louis (MO): Washington University School of Medicine.
- Day-Vines, N. L., Wood, S. M., Grothaus, T., Craigen, L., Holman, A., Dotson-Blake, K., & Douglass, M. J. Broaching the subjects of race, ethnicity, and culture during the counseling process. Journal of Counseling and Development, 85(4), 401–409.
- Delfabbro, P. H. & Winefield, A. H. (2000). Predictors of irrational thinking in regular slot machine gamblers. Journal of Psychology, 134(2), 117–128.
- Desai, R. A., & Potenza, M. N. (2008). Gender differences in the associations between past-year gambling problems and psychiatric disorders. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 43(3), 173–183.
- Desai, R. A., & Potenza, M. N. (2009). A cross-sectional study of problem and pathological gambling in patients with schizophrenia/schizoaffective disorder. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 70(9), 1250–1257.
- Emshoff, J., Gilmore, D., & Zorland, J. (2010). Veterans and problem gambling: A review of the literature. Atlanta: Georgia State University Gambling Project.
- Entertainment Software Association (ESA). (2019). 2019 essential facts about the computer and video game industry. Washington DC: Author.
- Evans, L., & Delfabbro, P. H. (2005). Motivators for change and barriers to help-seeking in Australian problem gamblers. Journal of Gambling Studies, 21(2), 133–155.
- Evening Standard. (2006, August 24). Gambling "as addictive as taking drugs."
- Feeney, J.D., & Whyte, K. (2016). Public Opinion on Problem Gambling: Myths & Misconceptions. Washington, DC: National Council on Problem Gambling.
- Ferris, J., & Wynne, H. (2001). The Canadian Problem Gambling Index: Final report. Ottawa: Canadian Centre on Substance Abuse.
- Fessler, J. L. (1996). Gambling away the golden years. Wisconsin Medical Journal, 95(9), 618–619.
- Franklin, A. J. (2004). From brotherhood to manhood: How black men rescue their relationships and dreams from the invisibility syndrome. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Gamblers Anonymous. (1994). Gamblers Anonymous Handbook.
- Gebauer, L., LaBrie, R., & Shaffer, H. J. (2010). Optimizing DSM-IV-TR classification accuracy: A brief biosocial screen for detecting current gambling disorders among gamblers in the general household population. Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 55(2): 82–90.
- Gentile, D. (2011). The multiple dimensions of video game effects. Child Development Perspectives, 5(2), 75–81.
- Goslar, M., Leibetseder, M., Muench, H. M., Hofmann, S. G., & Laireiter, A.-R. (2019). Pharmacological treatments for disordered gambling: A meta-analysis. Journal of Gambling Studies, 35(2), 415–445.

- Grant, J. E., Chamberlain, S. R., Schreiber, L. R., & Odlaug, B. L. (2012). Gender-related clinical and neurocognitive differences in individuals seeking treatment for pathological gambling. Journal of psychiatric research, 46(9), 1206–1211.
- Grant, J., & Kim, S. W. Gender differences in pathological gamblers seeking medication treatment. Comprehensive Psychiatry, 43(1), 56–62.
- Grant, J., & Odlaug, B. (2012). Increasing the Odds, Vol. 7: Psychosocial interventions for gambling disorders. Beverly, MA: National Center for Responsible Gaming.
- Grant, J., & Potenza, M. N. (2006). Sexual orientation of men with pathological gambling: Prevalence and psychiatric comorbidity in a treatment seeking sample. Comprehensive Psychiatry, 515–518.
- Grinols, E. L. (2000). Casino gambling causes crime. Policy Reform (published by University of Illinois Institute of Government and Public Affairs), 13(2), 1–4.
- Gupta, R., & Derevensky, J. L. (1998). Adolescent gambling behavior: A prevalence study and examination of the correlates associated with problem gambling. Journal of Gambling Studies, 14(4), 319–345.
- Haskins, D. G. (2014). Self-renewal with African Americans in psychotherapy. In R. J. Wicks & E. A. Maynard (Eds.), Clinician's guide to self-renewal: Essential advice from the field (p. 369–395). John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Haydock, M., Cowlishaw, S., Harvey, C., & Castle, D. (2015). Prevalence and correlates of problem gambling in people with psychotic disorders. Comprehensive Psychiatry, 58, 122–129.
- Hayward, K., & Colman, R. (2004). The costs and benefits of gaming: A summary report from the literature review. Nova Scotia: GPI Atlantic.
- Helms J., & Cook, D. (1999). Using race and culture in counseling and psychotherapy: Theory and processes. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Higgins, S. T., Budney, A. J., & Bickel, W. K. (1994). Incentives improve outcome in outpatient behavioral treatment of cocaine dependence. Archives of General Psychiatry, 51(7), 568–576.
- Himelhoch, S. S., McLean, H. M. Medoff, D., Kreyenbuhl, J., Rugle, L., Brownley, J., Bailey-Kloch, M., Potts, W., & Welsh, C. (2016). Twelve-month prevalence of DSM-5 gambling disorder and associated gambling behaviors among those receiving methadone maintenance. Journal of Gambling Studies, 32(1), 1–10.
- Hing, N., Russell, A. M. T., Vitartas, P., & Lamont, M. (2016). Demographic, behavioural, and normative risk factors for gambling problems amongst sports bettors. Journal of Gambling Studies, 32, 625–641.
- Hodgins, D. C., & el-Guebaly, N. (2010). The influence of substance dependence and mood disorders on outcome from pathological gambling: Five-year follow-up. Journal of Gambling Studies, 26(1), 117–127.
- Hodgins, D. C., Makarchuk, K., El-Guebaly, N., & Peden, N. (2002). Why problem gamblers quit gambling: A comparison of methods and samples. Addiction Research & Theory, 10(2), 203–218.

- Holtgraves, T. (2009). Gambling, gambling activities, and problem gambling. Psychology of Addictive Behaviors, 23(2), 295–302.
- Horvath, A. O., Del Re, A.C., Flückiger, C., & Symonds, D. (2001). Alliance in Individual psychotherapy. Psychotherapy, 48(1), 9–16.
- Hoskins, M. L. (1999). Worlds apart and lives together: Developing cultural attunement. Child and Youth Care Forum, 28, 73–85.
- Jacob, L., Haro, J. M., & Koyanagi, A. (2018). Relationship between attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder symptoms and problem gambling: A mediation analysis of influential factors among 7,403 individuals from the UK. Journal of Behavioral Addictions, 7(3), 781–791.
- Jacobs, D. F. (2004). Youth gambling in North America: An analysis of long term trends and future prospects. In J. Devernsky and R. Gupta (Eds.), Gambling problems in youth: Theoretical and applied perspectives (pp. 1–26). New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.
- Johnson, E. E., Hamer, R., Nora, R.M., Tan, B., Eisenstein, N., & Engelhart, C. The Lie/Bet Questionnaire for screening pathological gamblers. Psychological Reports, 80(1) 83–88.
- June, L., & Black, S. (2002). Counseling in African American communities: Biblical perspectives on tough issues. Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan.
- Kalechstein, A. D., Fong, T., Rosenthal, R. J., Davis, A., Vanyo, H., & Newton, T. F. (2007). Pathological gamblers demonstrate frontal lobe impairment consistent with that of methamphetamine-dependent individuals. Journal of Neuropsychiatry, 19(3), 298–303.
- Kausch, O. (2003). Suicide attempts among veterans seeking treatment for pathological gambling. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 64(9), 1031–1038.
- Kessler, R. C. (2008). National Comorbidity Survey: Baseline (NCS-1), 1990-1992. Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research [distributor].
- Kessler, R. C., & Merikangas, K. R. (2004). The National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R): Background and aims. International Journal of Methods in Psychiatric Research, 13, 60–68.
- Kong, G., Smith, P. H., Pilver, C., Hoffa, R., & Potenza, M. N. (2016). Problem-gambling severity and psychiatric disorders among American-Indian/Alaska native adults. Journal of Psychiatric Research, 74, 55–62.
- Korman, L. M., Collins, J., Dutton, D., Dhayananthan, B., Littman-Sharp, N., & Skinner, W. (2008). Problem gambling and intimate partner violence. Journal of Gambling Studies, 24, 13–23.
- Korn, D. A., & Shaffer, H. J. (1999). Gambling and the health of the public: Adopting a public health perspective. Journal of Gambling Studies, 15(4), 289–365.
- Ladd, G. T., & Petry, N. M. (2002). Gender differences among pathological gamblers seeking treatment. Experimental and Clinical Psychopharmacology, 10(3), 302–309.
- Ladouceur, R., & Walker, M. (1996). A cognitive perspective on gambling. In Salkovskis, P. M., editor. Trends in cognitive and behavioral therapies, 89–120. New York: Wiley.
- Ladouceur, R., Giroux, I., & Jacques, C. (1998). Winning on the horses: How much strategy and knowledge are needed? Journal of Psychology, 132(2), 133–142.

- Langham, E., Thorne, H., Browne, M., Donaldson, P., & Rockloff, M. (2015). Understanding gambling related harm: A proposed definition, conceptual framework, and taxonomy of harms. BMC Public Health, 16(80).
- Ledgerwood, D. M., & Downey, K. K. (2002). Relationship between problem gambling and substance use in a methadone maintenance population. Addictive Behaviors, 27(4), 483–491.
- Ledgerwood, D. M., & Milosevic, A. (2015). Clinical and personality characteristics associated with post traumatic stress disorder in problem and pathological gamblers recruited from the community. Journal of Gambling Studies, 31(5), 501–512.
- Ledgerwood, D. M., & Petry, N. M. (2006). Psychiatry Research, 144(1), 17–27.
- Ledgerwood, D. M., Weinstock, J., Morasco, B. J., & Petry N. M. (2007). Clinical features and treatment prognosis of pathological gamblers with and without recent gambling-related illegal behavior. Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and Law, 35(3), 294–301.
- Lee, G. P., Martins, S. S., Pas, E. T., & Bradshaw, C. P. (2014). Examining potential school contextual influences on gambling among high school youth. American Journal on Addictions, 23(5), 510–517.
- Lee, G. P., Stuart, E. A., Ialongo, N. S., & Martins, S. S. (2013). Parental monitoring trajectories and gambling among a longitudinal cohort of urban youth. Addition, 109 (6), 977–985.
- Littman-Sharp, N., Turner, N. E., & Toneatto, T. (2009). Inventory of Gambling Situations: User's Guide. Toronto: Centre for Addiction and Mental Health.
- Liu & Pope-Davis. (2004).
- Lopez-Gonzalez, H., & Griffiths, M. (2018). Sports betting and problem gambling: What can the United States expect based on other legalized markets? Gaming Law Review, 22(8).
- Lopez-Gonzalez, H., Estevez, A., & Griffiths, M. (20108). Internet-based structural characteristics of sports betting and problem gambling severity: Is there a relationship? International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction, 1–14.
- Lorains, F. K., Cowlishaw, S., & Thomas, S. A. (2011). Prevalence of comorbid disorders in problem and pathological gambling: Systematic review and meta-analysis of population surveys. Addiction, 106(3), 490–498.
- Lorenz, V. C., & Shuttlesworth, D. E. (1983). The impact of pathological gambling on the spouse of the gambler. Journal of Community Psychology, 11(1), 67–76.
- Marotta, J., Hynes, J., Rugle, L., Whyte, K., Scanlan, K., Sheldrup, J., & Dukart, J. (2017). 2016 survey of problem gambling services in the United States. Boston: Association of Problem Gambling Service Administrators.
- Martin, C. S., Earleywine, M., Blackson, T. C., Vanyukov, M. M., Moss, H. B., & Tarter, R.E. (1994). Aggressivity, inattention, hyperactivity, and impulsivity in boys at high and low risk for substance abuse. Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology, 22(2), 177–203.
- McConaghy, N., Blaszczynski, A., & Frankova, A. (1991). Comparison of imaginal desensitization with other behavioural treatments of pathological gambling: A two- to nine-year follow up. British Journal of Psychiatry: The Journal of Mental Science, 159, 390–393.

- McCormick, R. A., Russo, A., Ramirez, L., & Taber, J. I. (1984). Affective disorders among pathological gamblers. American Journal of Psychiatry, 141, 215–18.
- McKay, J. R., Franklin, T. R., Patapis, N., & Lynch, K. G. (2006). Conceptual, methodological, and analytical issues in the study of relapse. Clinical Psychology Review, 26(2), 109–127.
- Mee-Lee, D., Ed. (2013). The ASAM criteria: Treatment criteria and co-occurring conditions. Carson City, NV: The Change Companies.
- Mercier, J., Sévigny, S., Jacques, C., Goulet, A., Cantinotti, M., Giroux, I. (2018). Sports bettors: A systematic review. Journal of Gambling Issues, 38.
- Meyers, R., Miller, W. R., Hill, D. E., & Tonigan, J. S. (1998). Community reinforcement and family training (CRAFT): Engaging unmotivated drug users in treatment. Journal of Substance Abuse, 10(3), 291–308.
- Miller, S. D., Hubble, M. A., & Duncan, B. L. (2007). Supershrinks: Learning from the field's most effective practitioners. The Psychotherapy Networker, 31(6), 26-35, 56.
- Miller, W. R. & Rollnick, S. (2013). Motivational interviewing: Helping people change. New York: The Guildford Press.
- Monaghan, S. M., & Derevensky, J. (2008). An appraisal of the impact of the depiction of gambling in society on youth. International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction, 6(4), 537–550.
- Morasco, B. J., Pietrzak, R. H., Blanco, C., Grant, B. F., Hasin, D., & Petry, N. M. (2006). Health problems and medical utilization associated with gambling disorders: Results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions. Psychosomatic Medicine, 68(6), 976–984.
- Morasco, B. J., vom Eigen, K. A., Petry, N. M. (2006). Severity of gambling is associated with physical and emotional health in urban primary care patients. General Hospital Psychiatry, 28(2), 94–100.
- Muelleman, R., DenOtter, T., Wadman, M., Tran, T., & Anderson, J. (2002). Problem gambling in the partner of the emergency department patient as a risk factor for intimate partner violence. The Journal of Emergency Medicine, 23, 307–12.
- Müller, K. W., Wölfling, K., Dickenhorst, U., Beutela, M. E., Medenwaldt, J., & Koch, A. (2017). Recovery, relapse, or else? Treatment outcomes in gambling disorder from a multicenter follow-up study. European Psychiatry, 43, 28–34.
- National Gambling Impact Study Commission. (2007). Gambling Impact and Behavior Study, 1997–1999: [United States]. Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research [distributor].
- National Indian Gaming Council. (2019). Growth in Indian gaming graph 2009–2018. Washington, DC: Author.
- National Opinion Research Center at the University of Chicago. (1999). Gambling impact and behavior study. Chicago: Author.
- National Research Council. (1999). Pathological gambling: A critical review. Washington, DC: National Academies Press.

- Neal, P. (2005). Problem gambling and harm: Towards a national definition. Melbourne: Office of Gaming and Racing, Department of Justice.
- Neal, P., Del-fabbro, P. H., & O'Neill, M. (2005). Problem gambling and harm: Towards a national definition. Final Report. Gambling Research Australia, Melbourne.
- Newzoo. (2018). Global games market report. San Francisco: Author.
- Nilsson, A., Magnusson, K., Carlbring, P., Andersson, G., & Hellner Gumpert, C. (2018). The development of an internet-based treatment for problem gamblers and concerned significant others: A pilot randomized controlled trial. Journal of Gambling Studies, 34, 539–559.
- Nower, L., & Blaszczynski, A. (2017). Development and validation of the Gambling Pathways Questionnaire (GPQ). Psychology of Addictive Behaviors, 31(1), 95-109.
- Oakes, E. K. (2011). Health care disparities and training in culturally competent mental health counseling: A review of the literature and implications for research. International Journal of Humanities and Social Science, 1(17), 46–57.
- Parhami, I., Mojtabai, R., Rosenthal, R. J., Afifi, T. O., & Fong, T. W. (2014). Gambling and the onset of comorbid mental disorders: A longitudinal study evaluating severity and specific symptoms. Journal of Psychiatric Practice, 20(3), 207–219.
- Petry, N. M. (2002). A comparison of young, middle-aged, and older adult treatment-seeking pathological gamblers. The Gerontologist, 42(1), 92–99.
- Petry, N. M. (2000). A comprehensive guide to the application of contingency management procedures in clinical settings. Drug and Alcohol Dependence, 58, 9–25.
- Petry, N. M., Blanco, C., Auriacombe, M., Borges, G., Bucholz, K., Crowley, T. J., Grant, B. F., Hasin, D. S., & O'Brien, C. (2014). An overview of and rationale for changes proposed for pathological gambling in DSM-5. Journal of Gambling Studies, 30(2), 493–502.
- Petry, N. M., Martin, B., & Simcic, F., Jr. (2005). Prize reinforcement contingency management for cocaine dependence: Integration with group therapy in a methadone clinic. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 73(2), 354–359.
- Petry, N. M., Martin, B., Cooney, J. L., & Kranzler, H. R. (2000). Give them prizes and they will come: Contingency management for treatment of alcohol dependence. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 68(2), 250–257.
- Petry, N. M., Steinberg, K. L., & Women's Problem Gambling Research Center. (2005). Childhood maltreatment in male and female treatment-seeking pathological gamblers. Psychology of Addictive Behaviors, 19(2), 226–229.
- Petry, N. M., Stinson, F. S., & Grant, B. F. (2005). Comorbidity of DSM-IV pathological gambling and other psychiatric disorders: Results from the national epidemiologic survey on alcohol and related conditions. Journal of Clinical Psychiatry, 66(5), 564–574.
- Petry, N. M., Weinstock, J., Ledgerwood, D. M., & Morasco, B. (2008). A randomized trial of brief interventions for problem and pathological gamblers. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 76(2), 318–328.
- Pew Research Center. (2018). "Teens, social media, and technology." Washington, DC: Author.

- Potenza, M. N., Balodis, I. M., Derevensky, J., Grant, J. E., Petry, N. M., Verdejo-Garcia, A., & Yip, S. W. (2019). Gambling disorder. Nature Review Disease Primers, 5, 51.
- Potenza, M., Steinberg, M., McLaughlin, S., Wu, R., Rounsaville, B., & O'Malley, S. (2001). Gender-related differences in the characteristics of problem gamblers using a gambling helpline. American Journal of Psychiatry, 158, 1500–1505.
- Prochaska, J. O., & DiClemente, C. C. (1983). Stages and processes of self-change of smoking: Toward an integrative model of change. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 51(3), 390–395.
- Prochaska, J.O., Norcross, J.C., & DiClemente, C.C. (1994). Changing for good. New York: Morrow.
- Richard, D. C. S., Blaszczynski, A., & Nower, L. (2013). The Wiley-Blackwell handbook of disordered gambling. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Roberts, A., Sharmana, S., Coid, J., Murphy, R., Bowden-Jones, H., Cowlishawe, S., et al. (2017). Gambling and negative life events in a nationally representative sample of UK men. Addictive Behaviors, 75, 95–102.
- Rodda, S. N., Bagot, K. L., Cheetham, A., Hodgins, D. C., Hing, N., & Lubman, D. I. (2018). Types of change strategies for limiting or reducing gambling behaviors and their perceived helpfulness: A factor analysis. Psychology of Addictive Behaviors, 32(6), 679–688.
- Rosenthal, R. (February, 1992). Pathological gambling. Psychiatric Annals.
- Rossen, F., Butler, R., & Denny, S. (2011). An exploration of youth in gambling and the impact of problem gambling on young people in New Zealand. University of New Zealand. Auckland: Auckland UniServices.
- Rothenberg, P. (2005). White privilege. New York: Worth.
- Rush, B. R., Bassani, D. G., Urbanoski, K. A., & Castel, S. (2008). Influence of co-occurring mental and substance use disorders on the prevalence of problem gambling in Canada. Addiction, 103(11), 1847–1856.
- Schwartz, D. (2006). Roll the bones: A history of gambling. New York: Gotham.
- Shapiro, J. P. (1996). America's gambling fever. U.S. News & World Report, 120, 53–61.
- Singh, A. J., Moufakkir, O., & Holecek, D. F. (2007). Development of a trip profile for elderly American casino visitors. Journal of Retail and Leisure Property, 6(1), 61–68.
- Slutske, W. S., Deutsch, A. R., Richmond-Rakerd, L. S., Chernyavskiy, P., Statham, D. J., & Martin, N. G. (2014). Test of a potential causal influence of earlier age of gambling initiation on gambling involvement and disorder: A multi-level discordant twin design. Psychology of Addictive Behaviors, 28, 1177–1189.
- Slutske, W. S., Zhu, G., Meier, M. H., & Martin, N. G. (2010). Genetic and environmental influences on disordered gambling in men and women. Archives of General Psychiatry, 67, 624–630.
- Spectrum Gaming Group. (2009). Gambling in Connecticut: Analyzing the economic and social impacts. Linwood, NJ: Author.

- Stefanovics, E. A., Potenza, M. N., & Pietrzak, R. H. (2017). Gambling in a national U.S. veteran population: Prevalence, socio-demographics, and psychiatric comorbidities. Journal of Gambling Studies, 33(4), 1099–1120.
- Stewart, S. H., & Zack, M. (2008). Development and psychometric evaluation of a three-dimensional Gambling Motives Questionnaire. Addiction, 103(7), 1110–1117.
- Stinchfield, R. (2002). Reliability, validity, and classification accuracy of the South Oaks Gambling Screen (SOGS). Addictive Behaviors, 27, 1–19.
- Stinchfield, R. (2003). Reliability, validity, and classification accuracy of a measure of DSM-IV diagnostic criteria for pathological gambling. American Journal of Psychiatry, 160, 180–182.
- Stinchfield, R., & Winters, K. (1996). Effectiveness of six state-supported compulsive gambling treatment programs in Minnesota. Saint Paul: Minnesota Department of Human Services.
- Stinchfield, R., & Winters, K. C. (2001). Outcome of Minnesota's gambling treatment programs. Journal of Gambling Studies, 17, 217–245.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA). (2018). 2018 national survey on drug use and health (NSDUH). Table 5.4A—Alcohol use disorder in past year among persons aged 12 or older, by age group and demographic characteristics: Numbers in thousands, 2017 and 2018. Rockville, MD: Author.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2014). Projections of national expenditures for treatment of mental and substance use disorders, 2010–2020. (HHS Publication No. SMA-14-4883). Rockville, MD: Author.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2016). Results from the 2015 national survey on drug use and health. Rockville, MD: Author.
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2019). Key substance use and mental health indicators in the United States: Results from the 2018 National Survey on Drug Use and Health (HHS Publication No. PEP19-5068, NSDUH Series H-54). Rockville, MD: Author.
- Sue, D. W., & Sue, D. (2019). Counseling the culturally diverse. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley. (Original work published 1981)
- Svensson, J., Romild, U., & Shepherdson, E. (2013). The concerned significant others of people with gambling problems in a national representative sample in Sweden a 1 year follow-up study. BMC Public Health, 13, 1087.
- Sylvain, C., Ladouceur, R., & Boisvert, J.-M. (1997). Cognitive and behavioral treatment of pathological gambling: A controlled study. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 65(5), 727–732.
- Taber, J. I. (2001). In the shadow of chance: The pathological gambler. Reno: University of Nevada.
- Tavares, H., Zilberman, M., Beites, F., & Gentil, V. (2001). Gender differences in gambling progression. Journal of Gambling Studies, 17, 151–159.
- Taylor, K. M., & Sharpe, L. (2008). Trauma and post-traumatic stress disorder among homeless adults in Sydney. Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 42, 206–213.

- Tira, C., & Jackson, A. C. (2015). Exploring the gray areas: Senior gamblers' perceptions of what is and what isn't gambling. Journal of Gambling Issues, 31, 24–44.
- Toce-Gerstein, M., Gerstein, D. R., & Volberg, R. A. (2003). A hierarchy of gambling disorders in the community. Addiction, 98, 1661–1672.
- Toce-Gerstein, M., Gerstein, D. R., & Volberg, R. A. (2009). The NODS-CLiP: A rapid screen for adult pathological and problem gambling. Journal of Gambling Studies, 25(4) 541–55.
- Tom, S. M., Fox, C. R., Trepel, C., & Poldrack, R. A. (2007, January 26). The neural basis of loss aversion in decision-making under risk. Science, 315(5811), 515–518.
- Toneatto, T., & Dragonetti, R. (2008). Effectiveness of community-based treatment for problem gambling: A quasi-experimental evaluation of cognitive-behavioral vs. twelve-step therapy. American Journal on Addictions, 17(4), 298–303.
- Toneatto, T., & Pillai, S. (2016). Mood and anxiety disorders are the most prevalent psychiatric disorders among pathological and recovered gamblers. International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction, 14(3), 217–227.
- Toneatto, T., Blitz-Miller, T., Calderwood, K., Dragonetti, R., & Tsanos, A. (1997). Cognitive distortions in heavy gambling. Journal of Gambling Studies, 13, 253–266.
- Tonigan, J. S., Toscova, R., & Miller, W. R. (1996). Meta-analysis of the literature on Alcoholics Anonymous: sample and study characteristics moderate findings. Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 57(1), 65–72.
- Tryon, G. S., & Winograd, G. (2011). Goal consensus and collaboration. Psychotherapy, 48(1), 50–57.
- Twenga, J. M. (2018, June 29). Gaming Disorder is only a symptom of a much larger problem. Washington Post.
- Volberg, R. (2003). Has there been a "feminization" of gambling and problem gambling in the United States? Journal of Gambling Issues, 8.
- Volberg, R. A., Gupta, R., Griffiths, M. D., Ólason, D. T., & Delfabbro, P. (2010). An international perspective on youth gambling prevalence studies. International Journal of Adolescent Medical Health, 22(1), 3–38.
- Volberg, R. A., Munch, I. M., & Petry, N. M. (2011). A quick and simple screening method for pathological and problem gamblers in addiction programs and practices. American Journal on Addictions, 20(3), 220–227.
- Waddington, L. (2002). The therapy relationship in cognitive therapy: A review. Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy, 30(2), 179–191.
- Walker, M. B. (1992). Irrational thinking among slot machine players. Journal of Gambling Studies, 8, 245–261.
- Walker, M., Schellink, T., Anjoul, F. (2010). Explaining why people gamble. In Zangeneh, M., Blaszczynski, A., & Turner, N. (Eds.), In the pursuit of winning (pp. 371–375). New York: Springer.

- Welte, J. W., Barnes, G. M., Tidwell, M. C., Hoffman, J. H., & Wieczorek, W. F. (2015). Gambling and problem gambling in the United States: Changes between 1999 and 2013. Journal of Gambling Studies, 31(3), 695–715.
- Welte, J. W., Barnes, G. M., Tidwell, M.-C. O., & Hoffman, J. H. (2008). The prevalence of problem gambling among U.S. Adolescents and Young Adults: Results from a National Survey. Journal of Gambling Studies, 24(2), 119–133.
- Welte, J. W., Barnes, G. M., Tidwell, M.-C. O., & Wieczorek, W. F. (2017). Predictors of problem gambling in the U.S. Journal of Gambling Studies, 33(2), 327–342.
- Welte, J. W., Barnes, G. M., Wieczorek, W. F., Tidwell, M.-C., & Parker, J. (2002). Gambling participation in the U.S.: Results from a national survey. Journal of Gambling Studies, 18, 331–337.
- Welte, J. W., Tidwell, M. C., Barnes, G. M., Hoffman, J. H., & Wieczorek, W. F. (2016). The relationship between the number of types of legal gambling and the rates of gambling behaviors and problems across U.S. states. Journal of Gambling Studies, 32(2), 379–90.
- Wenzel, H. G., & Dahl, A. A. (2009). Female pathological gamblers—A critical review of the clinical findings. International Journal of Mental Health and Addiction, 7(1), 190–202.
- Westermeyer, J., Canive, J., Garrard, J., Thuras, P., & Thompson J. (2005). Lifetime prevalence of pathological gambling among American Indian and Hispanic American veterans. American Journal of Public Health, 95, 860–866.
- Westermeyer, J., Canive, J., Thuras, P., Oakes, M., & Spring, M. (2013). Pathological and problem gambling among veterans in clinical care: prevalence, demography, and clinical correlates. American Journal on Addictions, 22(3), 218–225.
- White, W. (2009). Executive summary. Peer-based addiction recovery support: History, theory, practice, and scientific evaluation. Counselor, 10(5), 54–59.
- Whiting, S. W., Potenza, M. N., Park, C. L., McKee, S. A., Mazure, C. M. & Hoff, R. A. (2016). Investigating veterans' pre-, peri-, and post-deployment experiences as potential risk factors for problem gambling. Journal of Behavioral Addiction, 5(2), 213–220.
- Williams, R. J., Volberg, R. A., & Stevens, R. M. G. (2012). The population prevalence of problem gambling: Methodological influences, standardized rates, jurisdictional differences, and worldwide trends. Report prepared for the Ontario Problem Gambling Research Centre and the Ontario Ministry of Health and Long Term Care.
- Yapelli, M. F. (2012, November). From "action and "escape" gamblers to the pathways model: The subtyping of problem gamblers. Paper presented at the Sixth Annual Prevention and Recovery Conference, Norman, OK.
- Zois, E., Kiefer, K., Lemenager, T., Vollstädt-Klein, S., Mann, K., & Fauth-Bühler, M. (2017). Frontal cortex gray matter volume alterations in pathological gambling occur independently from substance use disorder. Addiction Biology, 22(3), 864–872.

Additional Links for Study

http://www.gamblersanonymous.org/ga/content/history Gamblers Anonymous history

http://www.gamblersanonymous.org/ga/content/recovery-program Gamblers Anonymous 12 steps

Gamblers Anonymous Working the Steps Pamphlet

https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/246c/fa8ccfbb777034ba3aca9033b07af009301e.pdf Developing a Brief Problem Gambling Screen Using Clinically Validated Samples of At-Risk, Problem and Pathological Gambler

A chart of a Gambling Disorder and recovery: https://www.asam.org/docs/default-source/public-policy-statements/1definition_of_addiction_long_4-11.pdf?sfvrsn=a8f64512_4 ASAM

Public Policy Statement: Definition of Addiction

https://www.ncpgambling.org/files/public/problem_gamblers_finances.pdf Problem Gamblers and Their Finances

Brain Biology and Co-occurring Disorders PGS power point slides (2010)

Current Gambling Trends and Strategies to Address Them PGS power point slides (5/14/2019)

Neurobiology of Gambling Disorder and Treatment Implications DMHAS power point slides (02/26/2016)

Gambling Awareness with Youth DMHAS power point slides (11/13/2015)

PGS Teens and Gambling Fact Sheet (undated)

Problem Gambling 101 PGS power point slides (undated)

An Integrated Model of Problem Gambling: The Pathway Model Maryland Problem Gambling power point slides (undated)

SAMPLE TEST QUESTIONS

- 1. Which of the following is not a significant risk factor for problem gambling among Native Americans?
 - a. Alcohol consumption (2 or more drinks per day)
 - b. Living in a disadvantaged neighborhood
 - c. Female gender
 - d. Impulsive personality traits
- Barnes, G. M., Welte, J. W., & Tidwell, M. C. O. (2017). Gambling involvement among Native Americans, blacks, and whites in the United States. The American journal on addictions, 26(7), 713-721.
- 2. What activity has been referred to as the "crack cocaine" of gambling?
 - a. craps
 - b. poker
 - c. sports wagering
 - d. slot machines
- Dowling, N., Smith, D., & Thomas, T. (2005). Electronic gaming machines: are they the 'crack-cocaine' of gambling?. Addiction, 100(1), 33-45.
- 3. The Pathways Model of problem gambling states that:
 - a. people move on a spectrum toward and away from problem gambling
 - b. there are three distinct sub-groups of problem gamblers
 - c. gamblers who develop disorder all have specific traits in common.
 - d. all of the above
- Blaszczynski, A., & Nower, L. (2002). A pathways model of problem and pathological gambling. Addiction, 97(5), 487-499.
- 4. The "illusion of control" is an erroneous perception that:
 - a. if you gamble long enough, you're bound to win
 - b. if you barely miss a winning number, you are more likely to win the next time
 - c. it is possible to control the outcome of a chance wager
 - d. none of the above
- Langer, E. J. (1975). The illusion of control. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 32(2), 311–328.

5. "Pressure relief" refers to:

- a. managing financial affairs with the help of people in GA
- b. a payment plan to avoid jail and pay off casino debt
- c. a credit counseling service
- d. none of the above
- 6. Which of the following is NOT an important aspect of Gamblers Anonymous membership:
 - a. practicing acceptance as outlined in the Serenity Prayer
 - b. establishing a repayment plan
 - c. adopting the identity of a "compulsive gambler"
 - d. maintaining abstinence through maintaining control

Exam Prep Questions

For many, practicing with exam questions that are similar in content and format, help to reduce the anxiety associated with test taking. Consider enrolling in the following prep course for more practice. There is a fee for this e-Course. To do so, visit the 'Examination' page on IGCCB's website to be linked to Evergreen Council on Problem Gambling's prep course.

You've Got This!

Don't Stress.

Do Your Best.

Forget the Rest!

Thanks!

Contact us:
IGCCB
20 CEDAR BLVD
SUITE 204
PITTSBURGH, PA 15228 USA
Certification@igccb.org
www.IGCCB.org